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Mr. Zhu Baoguo RIREI S A4

Mr. Xu Ying wAELE
Remuneration committee FMEES

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (chairman) KRESEE (EE)
Mr. Wu Po Sum PR &

Mr. Xu Ying wELRE
Nomination committee REZEE

Mr. Wu Po Sum (chairman) FEREE (EE)
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REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS HEESHEENGIMHEE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEADQUARTERS IN CHINA

Room 212, 313, Block C
Jianye Office Building
Nongye East Road
Zhengzhou City

Henan Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG REGISTERED UNDER PART 16 OF
THE COMPANIES ORDINANCE

Room 7701A, 77/F
International Commerce Center
No. 1 Austin Road West

Kowloon
Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.centralchinamgt.com

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Wing Nga (FCG HKFCG (PE))

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
(UNDER THE LISTING RULES)

Mr. Hu Bing
Ms. Ho Wing Nga

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Everbright Bank, Zhengzhou Tianyun Street Sub-branch
Bank of China, Zhengzhou Jianye Road Sub-branch

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS TO OUR COMPANY

As to Hong Kong law
Hogan Lovells

As to Cayman Islands law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Opus Capital Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Share listing
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Ordinary Shares (as at 31 December 2022)

Issued shares: 3,289,706,120 shares
Nominal value: HK$0.01 per share

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

ir@centralchinamgt.com
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CORPORATE PROFILE
LR

CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED (hereinafter
referred to as “CCMGT” or the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries hereinafter referred to as the “Group”, stock code:
9982.HK) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 October
2020 as an exempt company with limited liability, the shares of
which were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 31 May 2021.

The project management business of the Group is primarily carried
out by Henan Zhongyuan Central China City Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Zhongyuan Jianye”) and Zhongyuan Central China (Hainan)
Management Services Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongyuan Jianye (Hainan)”),
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Group mainly
operates businesses in commercial project management, and
continues to expand its business to government project
management, capital project management and special management
consulting services.

Since the establishment, the Group has been adhering to the
principle of “Good People and Good Land” and the cooperation
philosophy of “Alignment in Culture, Strategy, Standard and
Execution”. The productive cooperation has been widely recognized
by clients. With excellent products and services, CCMGT was
honoured as one of the “2022 China Outstanding Project
Management Operation Real Estate Companies” and “2022 Leading
Brand of China Real Estate Project Management Companies” by
China Enterprise Evaluation Association, Institute of Real Estate
Studies of Tsinghua University, Information Technology Research
Institute of Beijing China Index Academy, and China Real Estate Top
10 Research Group of the Information Technology Research
Institute of Beijing China Index Academy.

As of 31 December 2022, the Company has expanded its coverage
to 123 cities and counties in 8 provinces and autonomous regions,
including Henan, Shaanxi, Shanxi, Anhui, Hebei, Xinjiang, Inner
Mongolia and Hainan. The total number of projects under
management reached 266, covering a gross floor area (“GFA”) of
31.71 million square metres (“sq.m.”) Due to the refined full process
of project management, the Company is capable of sharing
advantageous resources, risks and benefits with partners.
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Through years of exploration of the asset-light business model, the
Group joined hands with outstanding enterprises in the field of city
operation and services and established the CCMGT City Partner
Council in 2022, aimed to promote urban development, all-round
social progress, and further build an asset-light operation ecosystem
of real estate project management. The city partner model is not
only a milestone of the real estate project management industry in
China, but also a key growth momentum driving the Company’s
newly expanded projects.

The Group will continue to gather advantageous resources and build
a win-win cooperation platform through collaborative development to
create multi-dimensional values on the government, capital, partner,
user and enterprise levels; and it fulfills the corporate mission of
“Taking Root in Central China and Contributing to Society” and to
facilitate the construction and upgrading of urbanisation in China.
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CCMGT was honoured as 2022 China
Outstanding Project Management Operation
Real Estate Companies
PREZEXERARKE2022HEEHEREE
EEBLE]

The Press Conference for Research Results of 2022
China Top 100 Real Estate Enterprises cum the 19th
China Top 100 Real Estate Entrepreneurs’ Summit was
held in Beijing on 31 March 2022. CCMGT was
honoured as one of the 2022 China Outstanding Project
Management Operation Real Estate Companies for its
excellent products and services.

20224F3A318 ' [2022F B E & AR (b EHEAR
BhEBETNETEFHERRCERES | EILR
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48 April

First session of Zhongyuan Jianye 2022
Partners’ Symposium was held

FREH2022FESERBHRIIERE

The first session of Zhongyuan Jianye’s 2022 Partners’
Symposium was held in Zhengzhou on 24 April. Six
strategic partners and relevant persons-in-charge of
Zhongyuan Jianye’s headquarters attended the session.

4R248 P RIEF02FEAFBEHAIEREERE
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Green Ecology, Sustainability and Win-Win |
CCMGT releases ESG Report
RELRBEAHAR | PREXERAARSD
ESG#H &

CCMGT published the CCMGT’s Environmental, Social
and Governance Report 2021 on 31 May, aiming to
respond to stakeholders’ expectations and demonstrate
its philosophy, management, actions and effectiveness
in environmental, social and governance areas in 2021.
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MAJOR EVENTS
SKEXER

6H June

Zhongyuan Jianye was
named one of 2022
China’s Leading Project
Management Enterprises in
Real Estate Sector
HIRZEREE 20227 B &
WwERBLEALRE]

In June 2022, Ifeng.com, Wind
Finance News and Wind Finance
News Think Tank reviewed the
outstanding achievements of real
estate enterprises in project
management in the past year
from four aspects: brand
influence, operation and
management ability, team
building ability and resource
integration ability, and selected
2022 China’s Leading Project
Management Enterprises in Real
Estate Sector. Zhongyuan Jianye
ranked 2nd on the list.
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6 H June

Zhongyuan Jianye was included in 2022
Project Management Industry Dynamic Guide
éﬁg%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ» BhHhPREE

China Real Estate Business published an article entitled
The New Way for Asset-light Operation in the Risk Era
— 2022 Project Management Industry Dynamic Guide,
in which Zhongyuan Jianye was included as a typical
case. As stated in the article, “Zhongyuan Jianye only
focuses on self-operated business and its revenue
structure mainly consists of basic management fees and
premium management service fees, with low capital
input and relatively high profit margins.” “Zhongyuan
Jianye previously focused on commercial project
management projects, but has been actively expanding
its government project management and capital project
management business since last year. According to its
annual report, Zhongyuan Jianye signed six new
government project management projects in 2021, with
a contracted GFA of 790,000 sq.m.; It signed one new
capital project management project with a contracted
GFA of 200,000 sq.m.. The business models became
more diversified.”

B fS it A R B R (R A B SE & M 3 B 2022
BHEMRRTERBRER) X5 PREXERATR
Pl sx o P E [TREFEZ IR E  WALBE
ZRABEEENGEEEERBE BARAE 7B
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B EFRBEOERRARBRFRENEALEER-
RIBFR 2021FhREEFFOBRFRZEB6(E
BREERBTIEF K MBREAKBZER1E &4
EEEB0E VA EBRABREEZ -]

9 H September
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Zhongyuan Jianye was honoured as 2022
Leading Brand of China Real Estate Project
Management Companies

RRERERE (2022 EEERZELRE]

The Press Conference for Research Results of 2022
China Real Estate Brand Value cum the 19th China Real
Estate Brand Development Summit was held in Beijing on
15 September 2022. Relying on product strength,
Zhongyuan Jianye continuously promoted the research
and development and launch of new products. The
Company was honoured as 2022 Leading Brand of China
Real Estate Project Management Companies for its
excellent products and services.

2022997158 + 20227 B /= #h 2 ah b (& (8 5 70 K R 5%
HEBEE+NAETEEHEREEES EHREB]EILR
BREAH FREXUNERIRERER FEHENE
o RPN K& REEE S R E M A IRTS - &80 [2022
FREMERZRLERE]
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104 October

Zhongyuan Jianye successfully signed its first
project in Inner Mongolia

TREXRKDIBENRARETEEER

On 22 October 2022, Zhongyuan Jianye successfully
signed a contract with Jianbin Real Estate Development
Company Limited in Morin Dawa Daur Autonomous
Banner on a project in Morin, Hulunbuir, Inner Mongolia.

The project is the Group’s first project in Inner Mongolia.
The successful signing of the contract marks another
milestone in the Company’s expansion outside of Henan.

2022710 A22F + Hh AR E HE i MR Bk &8 K
RERNENEERAARNENNE SRR BER
B ALIER -

ZEBE/AEEETARETNEEER - SRR
Rins T REXBREIEFHN —BRRME -

MAJOR EVENTS

12H December

The first meeting of CCMGT City Partner
Council was rounded off

TREXREBABEEE - NERERET

On 3 December 2022, the first meeting of CCMGT City
Partner Council was held at Sky Mansion — Benyuan
Community College. The attendees include 12 partners,
Chairman Wu Po Sum, the Company’s CEO Wang Jun
and relevant persons-in-charge of the Group.

2022F12A3H FREXABARFEFE - NERER
ERRERBIT-PREF2MUHATERA BEERAR
FARRMTRHRTEREBEHEMEXTAREASER

2
@Eﬁ °

2022 ANNUAL REPORT « —ZZE_—F &

SKEXES

1



L

AWARDS AND HONOURS
RIARRE

oo e %

HifMaR~ A lanHATE

R

i
e e

fTHER~"SWAEALAERLR

L e mm mge m e e———— e

s s SR

Tl T T e e T M el

The Group received a total of five awards in 2022, of which two were capital market awards and three were

industry awards:

AEE2022F KEFHAANE ERMEAR/EATIZEIA AR THRER:

2022 China Outstanding Project
Management Operation Real
Estate Companies

20227 EEHERRELES L
*

The Press Conference for Research
Results of 2022 China Top 100 Real
Estate Enterprises cum the 19th China
Top 100 Real Estate Entrepreneurs’
Summit was held in Beijing in March 2022.
CCMGT was honoured as one of the 2022
China Outstanding Project Management
Operation Real Estate Companies for its
excellent products and services.
202243 A+ 20227 B 5 th = & 58 1 it
REREMGEFE T NLEPEFHEBR
TPEREG|EIRBRA-FREXAR
NAERFEESHE MRS - K# 2022
FEEMERRBELERSLE] -
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2022 China’s Leading Project
Management Enterprises in
Real Estate Sector

2022 EEEREEEELM
3

In June 2022, Ifeng.com, Wind Finance
News and Wind Finance News Think Tank
reviewed the outstanding achievements of
real estate enterprises in project
management in the past year from four
aspects: brand influence, operation and
management ability, team building ability
and resource integration ability, and
selected 2022 China’s Leading Project
Management Enterprises in Real Estate
Sector. Zhongyuan Jianye ranked 2nd on
the list.
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Best Pre-sale Property of Kin

Ju Awards
tERBEAEERR

The northern region selection for the
general category of the second Kin Ju
Awards 2022, organised by Kinpan.com
and Times House, was rounded off in
Tianjin in May 2022. Ningling Jianye City
Demonstration Area Project in Shanggiu
won the Best Pre-sale Property Award.

2022958 B8 (FRERL) M
HEMB022FEE_ERFEE FaH
A BEERFENREZE M ERF L ERE
EEMTHEIER  KEREREBRE

Fam mEaeR
AR L S .

EERE - FEREE

FHEREERESE

Best Soft Furnishing Space of
Kinpan Awards
CRREEREEY

The central China selection for the space
category and the Shandong-Henan-Anhui
region selection for the general category
of the 17th Kinpan Awards, organised by
Kinpan.com and Times House, was
rounded off on 18-19 August 2022 in
Zhengzhou, China. The top projects in
central China and the Shandong-Henan-
Anhui region won the award. The sales
department of Luoyang Jianye Tianming
won the Best Soft Furnishing Space of the
Year.

HEeRE (KRIER) BHEIRNE T
[E®BRERMEREHEE BREMELR
A HERT I 7020228 18-19B 1R B )1 B K
EROTEEHTEAZERMERE BRREM
BRIEARMERIER R BRERPE L
PHERIREFERERRKE=RE-

Best Sales Space of Kinpan
Awards

TRRFEBREEREH

The central China selection for the space
category and the Shandong-Henan-Anhui
region selection for the general category
of the 17th Kinpan Awards, organised by
Kinpan.com and Times House, was
rounded off on 18-19 August 2022 in
Zhengzhou, China. The top projects in
central China and the Shandong-Henan-
Anhui region won the award. The sales
department of Yucheng Art Mansion won
the Best Sales Space of the Year.
HEeRE (KRIER) MHEIMNE T
[EeREEREEME BREMWELR
& JART I 7020229F8 A 18-19F £ 8 /1 A% K
EEOEETEAZEGME BRREMW
BRIAAMERIAE - EINBREMEEE
WREFEREERBEME-
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

ERHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, |
am pleased to present the consolidated results and business
overview the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Year”) and the outlook for future development.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT AND INDUSTRY
BACKGROUND

In 2022, the international situation became more complex, with an
increasing risk of stagflation in the global economy. Due to demand
contraction, supply shock and structural conflicts, China was faced
with weakening expectations and increasing downward pressure
quarter by quarter. In Q4, as the COVID-19 prevention and control
policy shifted, the economy started to rebound, increasing demand
and productivity. Special bonds issued by local governments
continued to take effect, driving acceleration of investment in
infrastructure construction; and positive fiscal policy created
favourable financial environment for the recovery of the overall
economy.

14 CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A
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INDUSTRY

The industry faced constant challenges due to frequent occurrence
of unexpected factors such as delayed housing delivery and
construction downtime caused by the epidemic, and weakened
release of medium- and long-term housing demand momentum.
Despite that regulatory policies and credit environment continued to
be optimised and a number of regulatory authorities released
favourable signals to stabilise market expectations, residents’
income expectation remained weak and the wait-and-see mood still
prevailed. It would require time for short-term policies to take effect
on the market, and the industry remained under pressure of
restructuring.

In the context of the industry downturn, real estate companies
strengthened their operations with the asset-light model, and
competition in project management continuously intensified. In 2022,
the newly contracted GFA by project management companies
exceeded 100 million sq.m. for the first time, and maintained a fast
growth rate with a year-on-year increase of 11.3% from 2021.

REVIEW OF RESULTS FOR 2022

In response to the above changes, the Group has taken the
following key measures:

1. Optimising the partnership, and founding the CCMGT City
Partner Council. As the foundation for the Group’s future
growth, the city partners are not only major guardians of
corporate interests, but also a key growth momentum driving
the Group’s newly expanded projects. The founding of the
CCMGT City Partner Council will become another powerful
engine for the Group’s development.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Consolidating fundamentals and developing new
business. The Group made continuous efforts to develop its
exiting commercial project management business, and
promoted full process refined project management. In terms of
new business development, the Group focused on
strengthening the research and exploration on government
project management and capital project management, and
actively adopted joint venture platform, equity transaction and
other models to work with governments’ platform enterprises.
Currently, it has signed strategic cooperation agreements with
14 governments’ platform enterprises, and has reached
strategic cooperation intentions with 8 state-owned
enterprises, with the successful implementation of
management consulting projects. In the next three years, the
Group plans to select 36 governments’ platform enterprises
with quality projects from 18 prefectures in Henan (a total of
121 city investment enterprises) and set up joint ventures with
them to further expand business related to government project
management.

Guaranteeing project delivery. The Group fully leveraged the
advantages of its asset-light model, responded to the
government’s call to ensure the delivery of buildings, ensured
stability and protect people’s livelihood, and acted proactively
and assumed responsibilities to promote the resumption of
work and production. The level of resumption of work and
delivery far exceeded that of its peers. In 2022, the Group
delivered 32,391 units with an area of 4.3 million sq.m. in 64
batches; 16 out of 64 batches were delivered with property
ownership certificates, representing 25% of delivered units; 18
out of 64 batches were delivered in advance, representing
28% of delivered units. Under the current industry background
of difficulty in delivery, the efforts and results of delivery have
maintained the Group’s brand reputation and greatly boosted
the confidence of partners and owners.
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Insisting on robust operation. As of 31 December 2022, the
Group had 266 projects under management with an aggregate
GFA of 31.71 million sq.m., including 25 projects under
management in provinces other than Henan with a total GFA
of 2.622 million sq.m., accounting for 8.3% of the total GFA of
the Group’s projects under management.

The Group signed contracts for 30 projects with total GFA of
3.367 million sq.m. in 2022. Contracted sales amounted to
RMB21.32 billion with contracted sales GFA of 3.498 million
sq.m.. Revenue was RMB606 million. Net profit was RMB303
million with a net profit margin of 50.1%. The Group led the
industry in the core figures, cementing its leading position in
project management.

Making continuous innovation in products and services,
and ensuring project quality. The Group focused on the
breakthrough of product capabilities with respect to product
presentation, and continued to promote the development and
launch of new product series. Our product has won more than
10 product innovation awards, such as the Kinpan Award,
World Habitat Award and Yuanye Award. With excellent
products and services, CCMGT was named one of the “2022
China Outstanding Project Management Operation Real
Estate Companies” and “2022 Leading Brand of China Real
Estate Project Management Companies” by China Index
Academy.

Continuously launching projects outside Henan. The
Group has launched 26 asset-light projects in Shanxi, Shaanxi,
Xinjiang, Hainan, Anhui and other provinces. In 2022, the
Group had been working on more than 10 projects outside
Henan with an aggregated GFA area of 2.67 million sq.m.. The
Group will continue to strengthen ties and communication with
governments and local industry associations outside Henan,
and establish new cooperation mechanisms with partners to
further expand its business outside Henan.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FEHE

BEKE - -# 120224128310 K~ & F
mA206EAEERE  EEEERITIE
F 3K A R A SN & ) B 251
EIRH  EEMER262.28 T 5K G
BHEERBAEEMES3% -

2022F AL B ENIEBI0ME ELD
MiE336.78F A K EETHEANEER
21321870 & RIHE R EMAI49.88F 77
Ko U A B6.06E T F FH3.03E
T FFE EE0.1% o OB R R ITE
B BEREETREBUTEEISCENM
i °

BEERREAYN BRIZRE -~5E
EmERNERNRERER HEHKE
VERRIMERE EREmMELEE
SRR HRAER BEAENETHEER
BT RS - BRIEEFHE MR - FIRE
R g0 M8 B 20227 B 5 b EE X
BRELBESDE] R[20224 B FH#ZE K
FEEL MR -

BENERTE B - NEEE E LA PR
7o 3E 88 ZREEHEH0EREE
HE%RM - BEZBR BIREEE T4
8 FEst st A 2078 F K A EE K
T&ﬁbu%@ﬂé&l\ﬁﬁzﬁ“&ﬂmﬁ%% hnag

%Eﬁi%@ HAERHETINE B
Bl — I REINEE AR

2022 ANNUAL REPORT « —ZZE_—F & 17



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

OUTLOOK FOR 2023

In 2023, with the optimisation of epidemic prevention and control
policy and introduction of growth stabilisation policy, the policy
environment for the industry will keep relaxing, strong differentiation
of real estate companies will remain, and the operational advantages
of high-quality real estate companies will continue to increase. The
China Index Academy reveals that the penetration rate of the project
management industry in China was less than 6% in 2022. Compared
with the penetration of 20%-30% in the U.S. and European markets,
the domestic project management industry has room for
development.

Driven by multiple demands, the project management industry has
kept abreast of the new industry trend. Based on the improvement
of management capabilities, the Group will raise the threshold for
competition, consolidate the development foundation in the Greater
Central China region, and turn the brand advantage into market
advantage and value creation advantage through the accumulation
of “brand, craft and hard working” over the past 30 years.

| would like to express my sincere thanks to all of our employees for
their hard work and dedication, and to customers, employees and
Shareholders for their trust and recognition. | believe that with the
joint efforts of the Group’s management and all employees, CCMGT
will be able to seize development opportunities, and keep abreast of
the industry trend to create value for partners and social
development.

Wu Po Sum
Chairman
20 March 2023
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SUMMARY OF INCOME STATEMENT

J

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

sz REE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12ANBLEE
2022 2021 Changes
2022%F 20214 2
Increase/
RMB’000 RMB’000 (decrease)
AR¥T T ARBFT  #n/ Ohd)
Revenue N 605,679 1,301,449 (53.5%)
Net profit 3 FE 303,477 770,155 (60.6%)
Net profit margin FFE X 50.1% 59.2% (9.1%)
Basic and diluted earnings per share &% & A& & #5852 F|
(RMB cents) (AR%9) 9.23 24.39 (15.16)
Total dividend per ordinary share TR Em AR AR S
(HK cents) (A 8.51 18.50 (9.99)
SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL BRI RN E
POSITION
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021 Changes
2022%F 20214 2
Increase/
RMB’000 RMB’000 (decrease)
AR¥T T AR®FIT Em ORd)
Total cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEMBE 1,564,617 1,975,806 (20.8%)
Total assets wEE 2,693,436 2,895,031 (7.0%)
Total liabilities weE 515,501 575,402 (10.4%)
Total equity R 2,177,935 2,319,629 (6.1%)
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Business Overview

In 2022, impacted by multiple factors such as the downturn in
the real estate market and the resurgence of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group saw a year-on-year decline in
operational indicators like newly expanded area, contracted
sales and net profit. However, the Group believes that with the
optimisation of anti-pandemic policies in China, the economy
is getting better and the project management industry will see
healthier development.

The Group had 30 newly signed project management projects
during the Year, with newly contracted GFA of 3,367,056 sq.m.
The contracted sales for projects under the Group’s
management amounted to approximately RMB21.317 billion,
and the contracted sales GFA was 3,498,418 sq.m.. As of 31
December 2022, 266 projects were under the Group’s
management with an aggregated GFA of approximately
31,710,028 sq.m.. In 2022, two new contracts were signed in
provinces other than Henan with a newly contracted GFA of
106,200 sg.m.. In 2022, the Group delivered 64 projects with
32,391 units and an aggregated GFA of 4.3 million sq. m., of
which 18 projects were delivered ahead of schedule,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

representing an increase of 1.3% year-on-year, and the level
of project delivery management steadily improved. As of 31
December 2022, the Group had conducted business in 123
cities and counties, in particular 102 cities and counties in
Henan and 21 cities and counties outside Henan.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had signed strategic
cooperation agreements with 14 governments’ platform
companies and eight state-owned enterprises, and had signed
14 government project management projects, with a
contracted GFA of 2.01 million sq.m.. It had signed three
capital project management projects, with contracted GFA of
530,000 sq.m.. The business model of the Group is becoming
more diversified.

Macro Environment

In 2022, COVID-19, war and inflation, and interest rate hikes
are the key factors affecting the global economy. With the full
relaxation of pandemic control measures in various countries,
economic activities are gradually recovering and improving.
Facing the grim and complicated international situation and
the huge risk challenges that came one after another, the
central government of the PRC, which sought progress while
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maintaining stability, took a holistic approach to both the
domestic and international situation, better coordinated the
pandemic prevention and control with economic and social
development, better coordinated development with security,
focused on high-quality development, promoted the creation of
a new development pattern, enhanced the internal driving
force for domestic circulation and improve the quality of
international circulation, laying a long-term value foundation
for the sound development of enterprises. China’s GDP
amounted to RMB121.02 trillion in 2022, with an actual growth
rate of 3.0%. Henan Province’s GDP totalled RMB6.13 ftrillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 3.1%, which was 0.1%
higher than the national average. From the perspective of
economic indicators, China’s economy slowed down, while
Henan Province’s primary economic indicators maintained
growth momentum, outperforming the national average.
Henan, as an economic powerhouse, gave full play to the key
supporting role of stabilising the national economy and
shouldered the responsibility of making more contributions to
the national economy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Project Management Market

In the context of high property development costs, tightening
financing environment and declining industry profits, the real
estate industry is seeking to transform from “benefiting from
land resources” and “benefiting from the financial sector” to
“benefiting from management” era. Project management is a
sign of industry maturity when globalisation and urbanisation
have reached to a certain stage. With the advantages of being
asset-light, highly profitable and cycle-resistant, project
management has become an important option for many real
estate companies to explore new models. In conjunction with
the national and provincial “14th Five-Year” Plan policies, the
direction of supply-side reform in the real estate industry is
becoming clearer, promoting the construction of
indemnificatory rental housing, and urban renewal may
become a trend. Meanwhile, with accelerated market
integration, demand from SME enterprises for project
management business gradually increases. In recent years,
the PRC’s central government and local authorities have
issued intensive policies to speed up the development of
indemnificatory rental housing. China has initially planned to
add 6.5 million units of indemnificatory rental housing in 40 key
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cities during the “14th Five-Year” Plan period, of which 2.4
million units were planned to be completed by 2022. As a
result, there will be an explosive growth in indemnificatory
rental housing, providing a good opportunity for the overall
project management market to develop.

Project management is in the stage of survival of the fittest,
and more companies ensure sound and safe development.
Featuring strong subjectivity and willingness, project
management has become a separate business as a new profit
point for enterprises. In the meantime, due to the increasing
market downward pressure, residents’ weakened housing
purchase expectations, and the relief of real estate developers
defaulting on debts, more experienced, capable and
resourceful enterprises are needed to operate project
management business, so as to minimise the economic and
social pressure. At present, opportunities arising from
government project management have attracted many brand-
name real estate companies to participate in relevant projects,
and more than 40 top companies have made their presence in
project management business. Bidders of government-led
projects will be no longer subject to geographical restrictions,
which is conducive to cross-regional business development of
enterprises engaged in project management business.

In 2022, CCMGT was named one of the “2022 China
Outstanding Project Management Real Estate Companies”
and the “2022 Leading Brand of China Real Estate Project
Management Companies”.

Impact of COVID-19

According to the data released by the National Bureau of
Statistics, the investment in real estate development
nationwide fell by 10.0% year on year in 2022, the sales area
of commercial properties dropped by 24.3%, and the area of
commercial properties for sale increased by 10.5%. The paid-
in investment of real estate developers slumped by 25.9%.
Compared with other parts of the country, Zhengzhou and
even Henan may see a severer downturn in the real estate
market in 2022. Real estate developers in Henan are slow in
transformation. Once the external environment deteriorates,
such as pandemic prevention and control and macroeconomic
slowdown, local real estate enterprises are affected in terms of
their continuing operations to a considerable extent, which in
turn will lead to a lack of confidence in market entities and a
cold real estate market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

According to the experience and regularity of the pandemic
over the past two years, the biggest problem with the
pandemic in 2022 is that it has hit China’s economic
powerhouses and core regions, where economy periodically
became stagnant. The losses caused, including the knock-on
effects, shall not be underestimated. Except first-tier cities,
new first-tier cities with strong economic fundamentals and
some provincial capitals, the vast majority of Chinese cities
came under downward pressure in the field of real estate
economy and housing prices starting from the second half of
2021. Private real estate developers continued with
deleveraging and risk reduction in 2022, when the property
market was generally sluggish and housing prices lacked
support. Because of the pandemic, most people were hit
financially and their attitudes toward cash flows and future
expectations turned negative.
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“Greater Central China” Strategy

The Group officially initiated the “Greater Central China”
strategy last year. It has now achieved great results —
establishing five urban companies in Shanxi, Xinjiang, Hainan,
Tianjin and Shaanxi. The Group’s projects under management
cover six provinces and one autonomous region outside
Henan, including Anhui, Shanxi, Shaanxi, Hebei, Xinjiang and
Hainan. The Group’s “Greater Central China” strategy has a
great competitive advantage and is highly compatible with the
Greater Central China market, providing the Group with
excellent room for development.

The establishment of the CCMGT City Partner Council in
December 2022 is the fruit of seven years of exploration of the
asset-light development model in China. The CCMGT City
Partner Council is to bring together like-minded city partners,
promote cooperation among its members, and ultimately
promote urbanisation and social progress in central China.
The CCMGT City Partner Council shall use credit and
financing means to open up project and capital channels for
members and connect resources, and create quality products
and provide quality services for customers. Ultimately, the
Group can rapidly consolidate and expand its brand and
enable it to take root and blossom in the Greater Central China
region.

Future Business Plan and Strategy

In 2023, under the guidance of the “Greater Central China”
strategy, the Group will further optimize the structure of its
business model and maintain the integrity and health of its
development. The Group will focus on internal management,
examine its own management deficiencies, eliminate the
barriers rooted in our cognition, ability and habit, promote
various foundational works, steadily improve project
management capabilities, uphold fundamental principles and
break new ground, and strive for excellence in practical work,
At the same time, 2023 is also the inaugural year after the
establishment of the CCMGT City Partner Council, which
matters significantly as it will lead the Group into a new
journey. In 2023, the Group will focus on the following strategic
plans:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Optimisation of diversified business models

First, the Group will consolidate the research and
presence in high-level cities, and deepen the research
on the business models of government project
management, capital project management and
consultation services, striving to develop capabilities for
comprehensive project management services aimed at
all property categories within five years. Second, efforts
will be made to strengthen the connection with financial
institutions, asset companies, governments’ investment
platforms, etc. In the process of cooperation on existing
government project management and capital project
management projects, the Group will accumulate
management experience and promote the maturity and
standardisation of business models of government
project management and capital project management.
Third, it will effectively leverage the resources of the City
Partner Council to build a capital project management
platform with the Group’s characteristics that meets the
development needs of the asset-light industry, which is
favourable to the development of the asset-light industry.
Last but not least, it will deepen the “partner classification
management” mechanism, improve the partner
information file card, and conduct active maintenance to
continuously improve the repeat cooperation rate.

Steady development of out-of-province business

First, the Group will strengthen the research on out-of-
province markets for each business line, especially in the
Greater Central China region, to create replicable
experiences. Second, with regard to different out-of-
province markets, it will gradually establish project
operation control standards in line with the local market,
so as to promote the operation of out-of-province
projects from a more objective perspective. Third, focus
will fall on creating outstanding out-of-province projects
and promoting the development and growth of out-of-
province business. Fourth, an out-of-province brand
publicity standardisation system will be improved to
enhance brand popularisation and image. Finally, the
Group will smoothen the cooperation channels with
quality partners outside Henan to jointly consolidate the
sustainable development of out-of-province business.
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Continuous cost reduction, quality improvement and
benefit enhancement

First, with “fine management in the whole process of
projects”, the Group will take a holistic approach to
increase the project benefits and per capita efficiency.
Second, continuous efforts will be made to promote
product innovation, optimise and improve product
suitability according to market needs, and perfect
innovative products that have the same quality as high-
quality products and are subject to cost constraints.
Third, it will perfect the supplier resource base and
design a management evaluation mechanism to increase
project efficiency and enhance quality control. Finally,
cost optimisation cases will be analysed to get valuable
and promotable outstanding cases, so as to improve the
systematic and standardised project management.

Spread of CCMGT’s strong image in project
management

First, guided by direction and empowered with brand, the
Group will focus on “sorting out the advantages in project
management and spreading stories of project
management”, and tell stories about products and
deliveries, aiming to build a strong image as “the king in
the market with the average home price below
RMB10,000 per sq.m.”. Second, it will ensure the
resumption of projects and on-time delivery of quality
projects to create its brand image. Last but not least, the
Group will consolidate its customer service level and
strengthen the closed-loop management for customer
complaint handling. Based on early-stage service, risk
management, customer complaint management, the
Group will implement the maintenance system of the
“staged responsibility + standardised management” to
meet the needs of prospective property owners, owners
in run-in period, stable owners and old owners, aiming to
enhance its brand image.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

5.  Improvement of work standards on internal control
and compliance

As a pioneer in the project management industry, the
Group will consolidate and strengthen its compliance
capabilities in order to ensure the healthy, safe and
sustainable development of its business. First, it will
strictly follow management systems and documents and
oversee the implementation effect to ensure the
compliance of each work. Second, further business
research will be conducted, the authorities and
responsibilities of all parties in the project cooperation
process will be updated according to business
developments, and business rules and management
boundaries will be clarified. Finally, the Group will team
up with partners to launch compliance-related training to
enhance its compliance capabilities and maintain high
standards.

Outlook

In 2023, real estate policies were relaxed, which has driven
the real estate sector into a smooth transition to high-quality
development. Top 100 real estate developers have made their
presence in project management business. Bidders of
government-led projects will be no longer subject to
geographical restrictions, which is conducive to cross-regional
business development of enterprises engaged in project
management business. Project management business has
broad prospects for development. The Group, which has
always insisted on “fine management in the whole process of
projects”, will refine the basic management, optimise business
models, make innovations to enhance the product and service
power, and consolidate the Group’s core competitiveness in
project management, with a view to leading the healthy and
high-quality development of the project management industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEMWRSH

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

For the Year, the Group achieved:
Revenue

The Group generated revenue and received management fees from
the provision of project management services. Principal factors
affecting revenue include the business size, number of projects
under management and total contracted GFA, milestones and
progress of projects under management as well as the sale
strategies. During the Year, revenue amounted to RMB605.7 million,
representing a decrease of 53.5% from RMB1,301.4 million in 2021.
The decline in revenue is primarily due to a year-on-year decline in
newly contracted GFA and contracted sales of projects under
management, affected by the resurgence of the pandemic and
continued downturn in the real estate market. Below is the Group’s
revenue divided by whether projects under management are based
in Henan Province:

B A
AEEREFENER
A

ANEEFIRERDERZRSE S WA KIER
BEEREE FERANTERNZDIEEBHRE -
FEHEBYERBIEEANELAE TEHEE
HE SR MEEARBEERE - RN ARFERN I
ABARMG605.78 &L #H12021F W AR
1,301.45 & T T F553.5% c WA TR EBZ
HIERENAREHEMSFERKZE B
BENEEMEUREEREANHEERLLT
B EBREEEERGMNNTEEEONALEE
IWABRIT

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021 Changes

2022F 20214 25

% of % of Increase/

RMB’000 revenue RMB’000 revenue (decrease)

ARBTR HBABSE ARETT EHRAESL B/ (D)
Projects in Henan province AREER 554,225 91.5% 1,208,028 92.8% (54.1%)
Projects outside Henan province &M B & IMEIIE B 51,454 8.5% 93,421 7.2% (44.9%)
Total At 605,679 100.0% 1,301,449 100.0% (53.5%)

Other Income Het A

Other income is primarily interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost and government grants. During the
year, other income amounted to RMB35.6 million, an increase of
RMBO0.7 million as compared with that of RMB34.9 million in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Personnel Cost

Personnel cost is the Group’s largest cost item, which primarily
comprises base salary and bonus, social insurance and other
benefits as well as equity-settled share-based payments by Central
China Real Estate Limited (previously the holding company of the
Group) paid to the Group’s employees. Such cost does not include
salary, bonus, social insurance and housing funds, and other
benefits and fees paid to the Group’s employees who are seconded
to relevant project companies in connection with real property
development projects managed by us, which are borne by
respective project owners and paid by the project owners to the
seconded personnel directly. During the Year, personnel cost
amounted to RMB123.1 million, representing a decrease of 37.5%
from RMB196.9 million in 2021. Personnel cost dropped primarily
due to a decrease of the number of employees during the Year as a
result of adjustment of the Group’s organisational structure.

Other Operating Expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses mainly comprise corporate
overhead and business, office and travelling expenses. During the
Year, other operating expenses amounted to RMB58.7 million, a
decrease of 18.9% from RMB72.3 million in 2021. The decrease
was mainly caused by (i) decrease of business and travelling
expenses because of impacts of the pandemic and market factors
on business development; and (ii) decrease of corporate overhead
and office expenses as the number of employees dropped due to
adjustment of the Group’s organisational structure.

Income Tax

During the year, income tax amounted to RMB100.1 million, a
decrease of 58.8% from RMB242.7 million in 2021. The effective
income tax rate was 24.8%, 0.8 percentage points higher than the
effective tax rate of 24.0% for 2021, largely due to the fact that a
withholding tax of RMB28.0 million was levied at 5% by the
Company’s subsidiary in Hong Kong on dividend distributions arising
from profit of PRC subsidiaries earned after 1 January 2008.

Profit for the Year

During the Year, net profit amounted to RMB303.5 million,
representing an increase of 60.6% from RMB770.2 million in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEMWRSH

Trade and Other Receivables

For the year ended 31 December 2022, trade and other receivables
amounted to RMB661.1 million, representing an increase of 16.4%
from RMB568.2 million as of 31 December 2021. This was mainly
attributable to advances of RMB111.0 million paid by a third party.

Contract Assets

Contract assets amounted to RMB425.0 million as of 31 December
2022, representing an increase of 41.4% from RMB300.5 million as
of 31 December 2021. It was mainly due to the decline in the
contracted sales of the Group’s projects under management affected
by the pandemic and the real estate market. Contract assets will be
converted into the cash inflow from the Group’s operating activities
in the future.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables amounted to RMB116.2 million as of 31
December 2022, representing a decrease of 9.4% from RMB128.3
million as of 31 December 2021. It was primarily due to decrease of
other creditors and accrued charges.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities amounted to RMB292.0 million as of 31
December 2022, representing a decrease of 25.8% from RMB393.2
million as of 31 December 2021. Contract liabilities represent the
payments received before the related project management service
is provided. The decrease during the Year was primarily due to a
decline in payments received.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Proceeds from the Listing

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong (the “Listing”) on 31 May 2021, with a total of
328,172,000 Shares issued pursuant to the Global Offering. After
deducting the underwriting fees and relevant expenses, net
proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately HK$915.8
million (equivalent to RMB751.4 million). The following table sets out
the intended use and actual use of the net proceeds as of 31
December 2022:

EEEMWRSH

L WA

B 7220215 AB1B X E B BB AT £k &
m(lEwm]) BREZ2EKBEEHTAH
328,172,000 f& 10 ZIkr B & B M ABEH X
% EHATERIEFENA5.8EE BT (HE
RARBTIS1A4BEIL) o FTRIIREFE2022F12
AMBFBHIEFENETHEMNER AR

Allocation Percentage  Net proceeds as of as at

of use of the of total net
Use of proceeds net proceeds proceeds

FiEmE s
FEN  SEREN

Unutilised

Actual use  net proceeds

used during 31 December 31 December
the Year 2022 2022 Timetable

20228

Bz2022% 12R31H
FER 1283188 REAH

BANKE BRER FERE

FeRERE ARAR Rl RERE ER B RER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
AREBET AR%BET AR¥BET AR¥BER
1. Expanding into new markets in the “Greater 300.5 40.0% 14.7 26.8 213.7
Central China” region and new service
offerings
RETKRR] BB HHTENHEE
1.1 Setting up of new regional branch offices 75.1 10.0% 1.6 3.2 71.9  One to three years
RUMNEHS A7 after Listing
rikR-E=F
1.2 Recruitment of new staffs to new branches 180.4 24.0% 6.5 156 164.8  One to three years
BEMNHALARENES after Listing
rhk-E=%F
1.3 Brand promotion 22.5 3.0% 52 55 17.0  One to three years
RlskE after Listing
rhR-E=F
14 Recruitment of new staffs and efforts in 22.5 3.0% 14 2.5 200  Onetothree years
developing new service offerings (including both after Listing
government projects and capital projects) tHgE—F=F

REMERLENHEHREEL (REKRA

BERENER)

2, Pursuing strategic investments and 270.6 36.0% - - 2706  One to three years
acquisitions after Listing
ETHRRENNE rhk-2=%

3. Enhancing the information technology 105.2 14.0% 75 10.0 952 One to three years
system after Listing
MBEENRESL rhk-E=%

4, General working capital 75. 10.0% 376 75. - One to two years
-REBES after Listing

fhR-ECF
Total &5t 7514 100.0% 59.8 1119 639.5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEMWRSH

Subscription of New Shares

On 18 November 2022 (after trading hours), the Company (as
issuer) entered into twelve subscription agreements with twelve high
net worth independent subscribers in respect of the subscription of
an aggregate of 343,140,000 Shares at the subscription price and
net subscription price of HK$0.80 per Share (the “Subscriptions”).
The Subscriptions have not been completed as at the date of this
report.

The Directors are of the view that the Subscriptions will benefit the
Group’s long term development by providing a good opportunity to
raise additional funds to strengthen the financial position and to
broaden the Company’s shareholder base and capital base to
facilitate the future growth and development of its business as well
as to increase the trading liquidity of the Shares. In particular, the
Directors believe the Subscriptions represent a desirable opportunity
for the Company to scale up the Group’s government project
management business and capital project management business,
while allowing the Group to preserve its existing internal cash
resources.

The net proceeds from the Subscriptions (after deducting all
applicable costs and expenses of the Subscriptions) will be
approximately HK$274,069,150. The Group intends to use the net
proceeds from the Subscriptions as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBWER S

Percentage
of the
Allocation of use of the subscription
subscription proceeds proceeds  Timetable
ERBEER
PG RIAH
Use of proceeds FrEXERL ABBEFERERRN DB B mmx
(HK$ million) (RMB million) (%)
(B&ET) (AR¥BETL) (%)
Development of government BRREEBNER 137.0 1235 50.0%  Within 3 years after
project management business completion of the
Subscriptions
NRBERTMIES
R
Development of capital project ~ BAREEKHER 123.3 1111 450%  Within 3 years after
management business completion of the
Subscriptions
RREFETHES
R
General working capital —REEES 13.7 12.4 5.0%  Within 2 years after
completion of the
Subscriptions
RREFE T2
FR
Total st 2741 247.0 100.0%

For details of the Subscriptions, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 18 November 2022 and 16 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEMWRSH

Financial Resources Management and Capital Structure

The Group has adopted comprehensive treasury policies and
internal control measures to review and monitor its financial
resources.

As of 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB1,564.6 million (31 December 2021: RMB1,975.8 million). The
Group maintained at net cash position as of 31 December 2022
without any borrowings. The Company paid dividend of RMB440.2
million in total during the Year.

The gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
equity, and the sum of long-term and short-term interest bearing
bank loans and other loans as of the corresponding date divided by
the total equity as of the same date. As of 31 December 2022, the
gearing ratio was nil (31 December 2021: Nil).

Material lending transactions

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had other debtors amounting to
RMB466.5 million, mainly consisting of advances to third parties of
RMB428.5 million. Such advances to third parties represent loans
made by the Company to four strategic customers (being
independent third parties) in the principal amounts of RMB100
million, RMB100 million, RMB120 million and RMB108.53 million, for
a term of one year (commencing from 1 December 2022) at 14.0%
interest per annum (payable every six months). The loan receivables
are unguaranteed and unsecured.

The background and reasons for each of the loans are similar. All of
the counterparty borrowers are the Group’s existing customers who
have also in the past cooperated with the Company on multiple
projects, with a focus on developing land parcels in the Central
China region. The Company’s continued cooperation with such
customers is consistent with the Company’s “Greater Central China”
strategy. Therefore, the Company considers such customers to be
of a strategic nature.

The main purpose of each loan has been to assist such customers
to successfully acquire and develop the relevant land parcel(s),
which will result in a win-win situation for both the Company and the
customer, as the Company will be engaged as the project
management service provider for the relevant land parcel(s).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Further, the Company operates an asset-light business model.
Granting such loans also allowed the Company to make better use
of its idle cash, given that such cash would increase the Company’s
ability to acquire more project management contracts (as mentioned
above), as well as provide an additional source of income by way of
the 14.0% annual interest. Such loans were also relatively short
term (being one year).

Prior to entering into each of the loans, the Company conducted a
credit risk assessment in line with its internal policy, which included
assessing and monitoring historical settlement records and past
business cooperation experience with such strategic customers,
conducting analysis and projections for the relevant project, as well
as current market conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. In addition, the Company considered: (i) its good and
mutually beneficial relationship with such customers, given the
Company has provided such customers with project management
services for several other projects in the past, and such customers
rely on the Company to develop their projects and ultimately sustain
their businesses (given their lack of property development
experience and/or capabilities); (ii) as discussed above, the main
purpose of the loans is to assist customers to successfully acquire
and develop the relevant land parcel(s), which will result in a win-win
situation for both the Company and the customers, as the Company
will be engaged as the project management service provider for the
relevant land parcel(s); and (iii) such existing customers have paid
all fees/expenses payable to the Company in relation to their
projects on time, and where applicable, repaid their loans owed to
the Company on time.

Having considered the above, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) consider that each of the
loans had been entered into on terms that are fair and reasonable
which was in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole.

As at 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this report, the full
principal loan amounts remained outstanding as they have not yet
become due. The Group monitors the exposures and manages the
loans based on historical settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Pursuant to HKFRS 9’s expected credit losses model, the credit risk
on the loans has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
and the Group measures the loss allowance for them at an amount
equal to 12-month expected credit loss. The Group recorded
impairment losses on loan receivables in relation to the loans in the
aggregate amount of approximately RMB9.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which the Directors consider to be
immaterial.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEMWRSH

For details, please see the announcement of the Company dated 13
April 2023.

Debt

During the Year, the Group had no significant borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts substantially all of its business in China and in
RMB. Therefore, the Group is exposed to minimum foreign
exchange risks. However, the depreciation or appreciation of RMB
and HK$ against foreign currencies may have impact on the Group’s
results. Currently, the Group does not hedge foreign exchange risks,
but will continue to closely monitor its exposure to foreign exchange
risks. The management will consider hedging foreign exchange risks
when the Group becomes materially affected by such risks.

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities and capital commitment.

Pledge of Assets
During the Year, the Group did not have any pledged assets.
Major Acquisitions and Disposals

During the Year, the Group did not have any major acquisitions and
disposals.

Major Investment

As of 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

Events After The Reporting Period

Subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report, no important event affecting the Group has occurred.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employment and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 912 full-time employees,
including 557 employees assigned to relevant project companies to
carry out property development projects under the Group’s
management.

The Company’s sustainable growth depends on the ability and
loyalty of employees. The management of the Company, who
understands the importance of realising the personal value of
employees, has established a transparent evaluation system for all
employees seeking career development in various business units. A
performance-based compensation structure was set up to reward
employees for their performance. The Company also adjusted
compensation from time to time in accordance with its development
strategies and market standards. Efforts have been made to
promote the healthy competition within the Company, maximise the
potential of employees, continuously optimise the current
compensation incentive system to retain and attract excellent
talents.

In addition, the Company recognises the importance of providing
employees with comprehensive and sustainable training
programmes to improve their business skills, enhance their risk
management capabilities and help them demonstrate high standards
of diligence and dedication. It provided employees with various
training programmes with different emphasis based on their tenure.
Besides internal training, third-party training institutions were also
invited to provide online and offline training for the Group’s
employees. Through these measures, team members can get
access to the latest information on industry trends and market
developments. So a stable talent pool full of cohesion and vitality will
support the Company’s long-term and sustainable development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards to safeguard the interests of its stakeholders. The
Company has applied the principles in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules by conducting
its business by reference to the principles of the CG Code and
emphasising such principles in the Company’s governance
framework. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions under the CG Code
during the Year.

CULTURE AND VALUE

Since the establishment, the Group has been adhering to the
principle of “Good People and Good Land” and the cooperation
philosophy of “Alignment in Culture, Strategy, Standard and
Execution”. The Group strives to maintain high standards of
business ethics and corporate governance across the Company.
The Group has a whistleblowing policy in place to support
employees and other contacts, such as customers or suppliers, to
anonymously raise their concerns with the Audit Committee about
any possible irregularities. At the same time, the Group formulated a
clear anti-corruption policy to support anti-corruption laws and
regulations, and promoted a culture of integrity internally.

In order to create long-term sustainable growth for shareholders and
deliver long-term values to all stakeholders, the board will continue

to monitor and evaluate the culture of the Company by:

. Reviewing the company’s decisions and actions to assess
whether they are consistent with the desired culture;

. Undertaking staff and stakeholders engagements; and
. Making reference to complaints received, disclosures by

whistleblowers, staff turnover rate and code of conduct/
regulatory breaches for potential areas of concerns.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for the
Directors in their dealings in the Company’s securities. Having made
specific enquires with each Director, the Company confirmed that
the Directors had complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code for the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board, which is chaired by Mr. Wu Po Sum, consists of three
executive Directors and five non-executive Directors, three of whom
are independent. The composition of the Board ensures a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of Group and the exercising of independent opinion.

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this report include:

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Wu Po Sum*

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing

Mr. Chen Aiguo (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Duan Juwei (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on 9 January 2023)
Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua)*

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Siu Chi Hung

* Mr. Wu Po Sum is the father of Ms. Wu Wallis.
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All executive Directors and non-executive Directors have entered
into service contracts or letters of appointment with the Company for
a specific term of 3 years. Under the articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”) of the Company, the Board is empowered
to appoint any person as a Director to fill the casual vacancy on or
as an additional Director.

In compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors
(representing one-third of the Board), one of whom possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications in accounting and financial
management. Each of the three independent non-executive
Directors has confirmed his independence of the Company and the
Company considers each of them to be independent in accordance
with the guidelines of assessing independence as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Each of the three independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a specific term of three years.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to
Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to
retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to
retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so
to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment. In accordance with Articles 83(3), 84(1) and 84(2) of
the Articles of Association, Mr. Chen Aiguo, Mr. Duan Juwei, Mr. Xu
Ying and Mr. Siu Chi Hung will retire from their offices at the 2023
annual general meeting of the Company ("2023 AGM"), and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group and in particular, the independent non-executive Directors
have provided the Board with their diversified expertise and
professional advices. The Board is of the view that there is a
balanced composition of executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors in the Board and the independent non-
executive Directors are able to provide sufficient checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. The participation of the independent non-executive
Directors in the Board and committee meetings also provides
independent judgment on the issues relating to strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, conflict of interest and standards of
conduct.

The Board members have access to timely information relating to
the Group’s business and will be provided with further documents
and information upon request to enable them to make informed
decisions. Independent professional advice can be sought to
discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their request. No
such advice was sought during 2022. The Company has subscribed
appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities
in respect of legal actions taken against Directors arising out of
corporate activities.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

The Board is in charge of leadership and control of the Group and is
responsible for maximising the Group’s financial performance and
making decisions in the best interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. Under the leadership of Mr. Wu Po Sum, the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), the Board is also
responsible for formulating and overseeing the business strategies
and policies of the Group, approving and monitoring annual budgets
and business plans, reviewing operational and financial
performance, and reviewing and monitoring the Group’s financial
control and risk management systems. The Board has delegated the
daily operation and day-to-day management of the Group as well as
the implementation of the Board’s policies and strategies to the
executive Directors and management of the Group.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

There is no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING EEEERRRRAE

The Board holds meetings regularly and meets at other times as = TE B K 8 s 22 8 L A Bf Fﬁgﬁ%ﬁé\% LA#
and when required to review financial, internal and compliance Jﬁﬁ EoE A REHRERE AREE-
controls, risk management, company strategy and operating A AIFEE LA L EL LN B $§§STTH§E§K

performance of the Group. In addition, the Board holds general & A% SRR R A5 ¥ 58 -
meeting to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders.

For the Year, the Board held 4 regular meetings, 1 remuneration RAFEE EES 8T T4NTHEE  UNH
committee meeting, 1 nomination committee meeting and 2 audit ZE@&# 1NIEREZES R 20EZEE
committee meetings and 1 general meeting. ggBEMARIRE -

The number of Board meetings, committee meetings and general &EEZENAFELHENEESE€S B LES
meeting attended by each Director for the Year is set out in the E&ZRBRERESHAHIHIN TR
following table:

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General

Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Bx ES2g8E FNZESEE FHEESER REZEESR BRRAE
Number of meetings held E{T&# &
Wu Po Sum TR 4/4 N/ATiE A 11 111 111
Hu Bing Bk 4/4 N/ATiE A N/A T3 N/A T3 F 11
Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on R (20234 4/4 N/A T3 F N/A i N/A i 111

9 January 2023) 1H9A & (F)
Chen Aiguo (appointedon  TRE Bl (R2023F N/A 7 F N/A 7~ F N/A i N/A R N/A R

9 January 2023) 1H9AEZ(F)
Duan Juwei (appointed on  B/E1E (K2023%F N/ATER N/ATE R N/ATE A N/ATE A N/ATE A

9 January 2023) 1H9HEZF)
Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) T 4/4 N/A T3 F N/A T N/A i 111
Zhu Baoguo RIRE 4/4 212 11 11 111
Xu Ying Gy 4/4 212 11 11 11
Siu Chi Hung BT 4/4 212 N/ATE A N/ATiE A 11

Sufficient notice for regular Board meetings and notice of reasonable A AFRERE2EE=TR L FTHEETSSZNR
days for ad hoc Board meetings were given to all Directors so asto DB EMEREST NS IERITBE  UE
ensure that each of them had an opportunity to attend the meetings, REZHERK et FeEZT R EESE LE
and agenda and accompanying Board papers were given to all JREFENEHINESE N -KEESREE
Directors in a timely manner. As agreed by the Board, the Directors EZJ aEEFVEEXS R BERARNAGFEIE-
may also seek independent professional advice at the Company’s 2022F EEZEKEWESKZEER L&
expense. No such advice was sought during 2022. During the eexMEREE N AFSREERE LM
intervals between Board meetings, the senior management of the =Z=Z=1EHMEEHAEREBREREENEE)
Company provides the Directors with information on a timely basis  && %} -

regarding all major developments or changes in the Group’s

businesses.
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Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, he or she will abstain from
voting in respect of the relevant resolution. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings to deal with such issues. The Company has adopted the
practice of holding Board meetings regularly. Notice of not less than
14 days is given of all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with the opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda. For other committee meetings, 7 days’ notice is given. The
agenda and accompanying board papers are despatched to the
Directors or committee members at least three days or seven days
before meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
these documents and be adequately prepared. When the Directors
or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they are
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with
adequate information and explanations so as to enable them to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before the Board and its committees for approval. Management
is also invited to join the Board or committee meetings where
appropriate.

All the Directors are also entitled to have access to timely
information such as monthly updates in relation to the Group’s
businesses and have separate and independent access to senior
management.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code requires all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, the Company Secretary regularly circulated reading
materials on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws,
rules and regulations to all Directors as part of their training
materials in the continuous professional development plan of the
Company and the Company confirmed that all Directors read the
training materials and are in compliance with Code C.1.4 of the CG
Code.
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During the Year, all Directors have received the following trainings:

RAFE  2BEFCEIATHEI:

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and

Directors other relevant topics

FHREEER EERER
BE H i AE R R E I
Wu Po Sum HAEAR v
Hu Bing ERIK v
Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on 9 January 2023) R (7202341 H9H BIE) v
Chen Aiguo (appointed on 9 January 2023) PBRE B (R2023F1H9HEZA(T) N/A 35 B
Duan Juwei (appointed on 9 January 2023) B E{E (R20235F1H9H EZT) N/A 73 A
Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) T v
Zhu Baoguo RARE v
Xu Ying G v
Siu Chi Hung BRI v

In addition, every newly appointed Director will receive an induction
on the first occasion of his or her appointment, so as to ensure that
he or she has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Company, and his or her responsibilities under laws,
regulations and especially the governance policies of the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Under code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The position of chairman is held by Mr. Wu
Po Sum and executive officers (the “EO”) was held by Mr. Hu Bing
and Mr. Ma Xiaoteng. During the Year, Mr. Ma Xiaoteng was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEO”)
with effect from 14 February 2022 and subsequently, Mr. Wang Jun
was appointed as the CEO in place of Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (who
resigned from such position on 9 January 2023) with effect from 9
January 2023. The CEO is mainly responsible for the overall daily
operation and management of the Group as well as its strategic
development. The roles of the chairman and the EO/CEOQ are clearly
defined and segregated to ensure independence and proper checks
and balances. The chairman focuses on formulating the overall
development and strategic planning of the Group. The EO/CEO are
mainly responsible for the overall daily operation and management
of the Group as well as its strategic development.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in the consolidated financial
statements of the annual and interim reports in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
Pursuant to code provision D.1.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, management should provide sufficient explanation and
information to the Board to enable the Board to make an informal
assessment of the financial and other information put before the
Board for approval. The Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

The Group has announced its annual and interim results in a timely
manner within the limits of three months and two months
respectively after the end of the relevant financial periods, as laid
down in the Listing Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems to protect the assets of
the Group and the interests of shareholders. The Group is aware of
the responsibilities of the Board and the management in risk
management and internal control systems:

. The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the
nature and extent of risks which the Group is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives and ensuring that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems; overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
risk management and internal control systems, and conducting
a review annually.

. The management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems, and should provide a confirmation to the Board on
the effectiveness of these systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable rather than absolute
assurance that there will be no misstatement or loss.

48 CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A

EMEER AT

EXCRRHRRERBUMZIAREERAE
EEAG MREAKEZEERBRERZ M-
AEBAOTRESSNEREENREREE KA
ERRAGHNEE:

. EEeaaTEAETERASBERIE
EREZEANRREEREE ]\fﬁ@%
REER L RHESEREROER
M EEEE R fr Eﬁgf‘qﬁﬂﬂﬁA
MAMEERSNRG BERLER -WAH
BFETEZ

. EREARHARETERAIEZERS E’J
FET BREEER TEAESFSHERE
E. EE&WJBQF?I%WLE = ﬁ)&

ZERREE R ARRE R R ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ’ﬁ#ﬁ
BRARREEXNEBEENAR LEEHTIERE
RERERA &TEQH’EHY\E%HME“ HEVRAE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT

In previous years, the Group has established a risk management
framework at the group level, clarified risk management process,
promoted the internal risk management culture, which has been
increasing year by year in accordance with the Group's strategy.
Based on the work done in previous years, the Group continued to
improve the risk management system structure through the following
efforts and has guided the implementation of risk assessment and
continuous risk monitoring activities:

. Restatement and continued implementation of risk
management organizational structure: The Group has
restated a risk management organizational structure covering
the decision-making level (the Board and the Audit
Committee), the executive level (Group headquarters and
subsidiaries at all levels) and the supervisory level (the
Group’s Audit and Supervision Department) (see Figure 1: risk
management organizational structure), and split risk
management responsibilities to clarify risk management
responsibilities and risk information reporting routes at all
levels;
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The Group’s Audit and
Supervision Department

SEEAERER

Figure 1: Risk management organizational structure
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Renewal of risk assessment standards: During the Year,
based on changes of internal and external environments, and
according to its business nature and operating characteristics,
strategic objectives, and management's risk appetite, the
Group renewed applicable risk assessment standards covering
strategic, financial, operational, people, compliance, security,
reputation and other dimensions, and used jointly confirmed
assessment methods and assessment standards to assess
the risks that were most likely to affect the achievement of
corporate objectives.

Clarification and standardization of risk management
process: The Group established a risk management process
involving risk identification, risk assessment, risk response,
risk monitoring, reporting and improvement (see Figure 2: risk
management process), and formed a closed loop to
continuously monitor and manage risks. Specifically, driven by
its business objectives, the Group identified the risk factors
that affected its achievement of the business objectives, and
evaluated the possibility and potential impact of each specific
risk; sorted out and recorded the existing specific risk response
measures; and continuously oversaw and assessed changes
in risks and adjusted responses in a timely manner.
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The main features of the Group's risk management system are as
follows:

. Closed-loop risk management process: The risk
management process adopts a combination of top-down and
bottom-up approaches. Through a series of work processes
including risk identification, risk assessment, risk response,
risk monitoring, reporting and improvement, the Group aims to
understands the major risks faced by the Group and
continuously monitors and manages the risks through a
closed-loop risk management process.

. Risk database with a clear hierarchy and focuses: Based
on five risk categories, namely strategy, market, operation,
finance and law, and taking into account the principles of
comprehensiveness, importance, synergy and standardization,
the Group has established a risk database at different levels.

. Risk assessment criteria that fit for the Group: The Group
has established appropriate risk assessment criteria based on
the nature of its industry and business objectives, and the
management’s risk appetite.

. Continuous improvement and optimization mechanism:
The Group clarified the frequency of risk assessment (at least
once a year) and requirements for reporting and
communication, and continuously improved risk management
process and optimized risk management and control measures
through regular assessment, implementation and follow-up of
risk response measures, communication and reporting.

On the basis of the establishment of the above risk management
system, the management, with the assistance of an external
advisory body, conducted the identification, assessment and
analysis of material risks in the principal businesses of the Group
(including the consideration of risks related to the environmental,
social and governance). A comprehensive review of the risk
management system was completed. The top ten risks facing the
Group in 2022 were newly assessed and the corresponding
measures were sorted out. It also clarified the main responsible
department for risks, next-step countermeasures and improvement
directions, and reported the assessment results to the Audit
Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established its applicable internal control system with
reference to the internal control framework of the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
The control system includes a mature organizational structure that
clearly defines the rights and responsibilities of various departments
to protect the assets of the Group and the interests of shareholders.

As an important part of risk management, the internal control system
of the Group was formed on the basis of various risks facing the
Group. As the first line of defense, the management of the Group
headquarters, the management of its subsidiaries and the
management of its various departments designed and implemented
a series of policies and procedures for the processes related to
finance, operation and compliance, and monitored the
implementation and effect of relevant policies and procedures.

The Group has constantly improved the Anti-Fraud and
Whistleblowing System and supports rational whistleblowing. The
office of the Board is responsible for managing the hotline and e-mail
for reporting fraud cases, and receiving real-name or anonymous
reports from employees and external third parties (e.g. customers or
suppliers). The Group will protect complainants and whistleblowers
in the process of cooperating with investigations, in a bid to prohibit
any illegal discrimination or retaliation. In the meantime, the Group
attaches importance to employees’ integrity, requiring all employees
to declare conflicts of interest and sign the Integrity Initiative when
they join the Group, in a bid to strengthen employees' anti-corruption
awareness from the beginning of their job. In addition, it set up a
column of integrity on the official website of the Company, and
continuously promoted the culture of integrity internally through
various channels, such as the WeChat official accounts and the
internal office platform.

The Group has established the Audit and Supervision Department
as the third line of defense. Through internal audit and follow-up
review of the improvement of internal control defects found in the
audit process, it communicates with the relevant management to
supervise the timely implementation of internal control improvement
measures, and provides independent and objective advice to the
Board on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit and Supervision Department has
unrestricted access to the documents and records, information
systems and staff required to perform audit procedures, and reports
the audit results to the Audit Committee.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group is aware of its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In terms of procedures for
handling and disseminating inside information and internal controls,
the Group has formulated the Guidelines on the Management and
Disclosure of Inside Information and has publicized its disclosure
policy to directors, senior management and relevant employees who
may have access to sensitive information, requiring them to follow
relevant procedures for handling confidential resources and/or inside
information, regulatory information disclosure and inquiry reply in
accordance with the guidelines.

REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

During the Year, the Board conducted a comprehensive review of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems through
the Audit Committee, including the risk assessment and the review
of internal control over key business processes in 2022. The review
covers the fiscal year 2022 and the Group's principal businesses.
The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and takes into account
changes in the nature and severity of material risks and the Group's
ability to respond to changes in its businesses and external
environment. The Board considers that the Group has complied with
the risk management and internal control provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and that the risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as the training courses received by the staff and
the associated budgets, and considered them to be adequate.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company expects to declare and distribute approximately 50%
of the Group’s net profit for a given year as dividends to the
Shareholders. Any future determination to declare and pay any
dividends would require the approval of the Board and will be at
their discretion. In addition, any final dividend for a financial year will
be subject to shareholders’ approval and the relevant laws. The
Board will review dividend policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared
and paid:

. result of operations;

. cash flows;

. financial condition;

. Shareholders’ interests;

. general business conditions and strategies;
. capital requirements and surplus;

. the payment by the Group's subsidiaries of cash dividends to
the Group; and

. other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles of Association of the Company

Any final dividend declared by the Company must be approved by
an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general
meeting of the Company and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The dividend policy will continue to be
reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific period.
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BOARD COMMITTEES AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee (the "Audit Committee"), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) to oversee the relevant aspects of
the Company’s affairs. The three Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee was established on 12 May 2021. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. Siu
Chi Hung (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Ying and
Mr. Zhu Baoguo during the Year. None of them is a member of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. The Board is of the view
that the members of the Audit Committee have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise and experience to discharge
their duties. However, the Audit Committee is also authorised to
obtain external legal or other independent professional advice if it
considers necessary.
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The Audit Committee has written terms of reference in accordance
with the Code. The principal functions of the Audit Committee
include:

K B

To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external independent auditors
and to approve the remuneration and terms of such
appointments;

To review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
external independent auditors and effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards;

To review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems and other major financial matters;

To review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices, and to monitor the Company’s financial operation
and core business status;

To ensure that the management has fulfilled its duties and the
Group’s strategic objectives to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control system;

To ensure compliance with applicable statutory accounting and
reporting requirements, legal and regulatory requirements,
internal rules and procedures approved by the Board from time
to time; and

To review and monitor the integrity of the consolidated financial
statements, annual and interim reports and the auditor’s report
to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s financial position.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during 2022 and conducted
the following responsibilities:

1)

56

reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year ended 31
December 2021;
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2) reviewed the Group’s interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2022;

3) assessed the independence of the independent auditors and
the scope of their audit;

4)  reviewed the risk management and internal control system of
the Group, the effectiveness of the internal audit and risk
control management function of the Company;

5) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external auditor;
and

6) made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of
the external auditor.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group as well as considered and
identified risks of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2022 and
will continuously monitor the systems on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee also met with the external auditor annually in
the absence of management to discuss matters relating to any
issues arising from audit and any other matters the external auditor
may wish to raise.

For the Year, the external independent auditors’ remuneration to the
Group’s auditor in respect of annual audit and interim review
services provided to the Group amounted to approximately
RMB 1,600,000 and RMB600,000.

The Company’s annual results announcement dated 20 March 2023
for the Year has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 12 May 2021 with
written terms of reference as suggested under the Corporate
Governance Code. The Nomination Committee comprises one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the chairman of the
Nomination Committee), and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhu Baoguo and Mr. Xu Ying.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include: (i)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year, and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the Board for conforming to the strategy of the Company;
(i) identifying and nominating qualified individuals to act as Directors
and making recommendations to the Board regarding such matters;
(i) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; (iv) making recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Executive Officers;
and (v) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below), and
the implementation of the progress targets set by such policy.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on Directors’ nomination and other nomination policy
matters.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with effect on
12 May 2021 which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain
diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board.

The Company recognizes the benefits of Board diversity and
endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate and
balanced skill levels, experience and perspectives to support the
execution of its business strategies. The Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including professional qualifications and experience, cultural and
educational background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length
of service. The Company will also take into consideration factors
based on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board comprises eight members, including one female Director
and seven male Directors with a balanced mix of knowledge and
skills, including various aspects of the real estate industry (such as
project management and property development), as well as overall
business management, investment and accounting. They obtained
degrees in various majors, including real estate management,
architecture, applied finance, international economics and trade, and
business administration. The Company has three independent non-
executive Directors who have different industry backgrounds,
including accounting, property development and investment,
pharmaceuticals and academia. Furthermore, the Board has a
relatively wide range of ages, ranging from 39 to 72 years old.
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With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the Group recognizes
the particular importance of gender diversity. The Board currently
comprises eight Directors, including one female Director. The senior
management also currently comprises two male members. The
Group has taken and will continue to take steps to promote and
enhance gender diversity at all levels of the Company. The Group's
board diversity policy provides that the Board shall take opportunities
when selecting and making recommendations on suitable
candidates for Board appointments with the aim to increase the
proportion of female members over time after Listing. The Group will
also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid
to senior level so that it will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to the Board going forward.
It is the Group's objective to maintain an appropriate balance of
gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’ expectation and
international and local recommended best practices. The
appointment of one female Director out of a total of eight Directors
satisfies the Group's current target gender ratio under its board
diversity policy.

Taking into account the Group's business model and specific needs
and also the above (including the presence of one female Director
out of a total of eight Directors), the Group considers that the
composition of the Board satisfies its board diversity policy.

As recommended by the Nomination Committee, the Board has set
measurable objectives (in terms of gender, skills and experience) to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Nomination
Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

As at 31 December 2022, the full-time employees of the Group
(including senior management) comprise about 71.6% male and
28.4% female.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 12 May 2021 and
revised on 30 December 2022 with written terms of reference as
suggested under the Corporate Governance Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhu Baoguo (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Xu Ying and one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the Chairman of
the Company), during the Year.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but not
limited to) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policies and structures for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration; (ii) reviewing and approving remuneration proposal by
reference to corporate objectives set by the Directors from time to
time; (iii) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The amount of the executive Directors’ remuneration is determined
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of the relevant
executive Directors’ experience, responsibility, workload and the
time devoted to the Group. The entire Directors’ remuneration is
adjusted by the Remuneration Committee from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee may also consult the Chairman on

proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors
and has access to professional advice if necessary.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the Year is set out below:

Remuneration

)

TRELHE
18 (0 REATA) OFURKE 5 AF
B BREEABNFEHMEERESNT

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$8,000,000

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the total remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s auditors, KPMG, for audit and non-audit services totally
amounted to RMB2,344,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to KPMG is set out
below:

£ 74,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001;% 7T 8,000,000/ 7T, -

2

BB EMEN <=

AEE RNABZBMEFTH ST EBEAAE
AEREEARBENHEA MM AAEAS XS
AR #2,344,0007T

ENRENESR G EHAFMO D TE
FIanT

Description of services performed Amount

i 12 14 AR A Y 4 k|

RMB’000

AR®T T

Audit services FaT IR 2,200

Non-Audit services HEEE R 144

Total st 2,344
COMPANY SECRETARY ATHE

The Company engages an external service provider to provide
secretarial services and has appointed Ms. Ho Wing Nga as its
Company Secretary. The primary corporate contact person in the
Company is Mr. Hu Bing, the executive Director.

For the Year, the Company Secretary has confirmed that she has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held each year at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

ARBBFIIRBIEHERERERS B2
FARELETAATWE - ARTNETEATH
MARITESRKELE

REREFE AARERRREETTHRI5)
B AR E R -

B SR AE T
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and Put Forward Proposals Thereat

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are prepared in accordance with
Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company:

1)

One or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition.

The requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of those Shareholders.

The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 7701A, 77/F, International
Commerce Centre, No. 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The extraordinary general meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

If the Directors fail to proceed to convene the extraordinary
general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of
such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or themselves
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by him/her/them as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by the Company.

Proposals for Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association as amended from time to time, the Company may from
time to time in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director.
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A Shareholder may propose a person (the “Person”) for election as
a Director by lodging the following documents at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 7701A, 77/F,
International Commerce Centre, No. 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon,
Hong Kong:

1

a notice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned of his/
her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director with full
particulars of the Person including his/her full name and
biographical details as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules; and

a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her willingness
to be elected as a Director. Such notices shall be lodged at
least seven (7) days prior to the date of the general meeting
and the period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and shall be at
least seven (7) days in length.

Procedures for Raising Enquiries

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the
Shareholders, the Company has adopted a Shareholders’
communication policy:

1)

Shareholders may direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary or the Chief Financial Officer whose contact details
are as follows: CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY
LIMITED, Room 7701A, 77/F, International Commerce Centre,
No. 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company
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MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association are available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. There had been no changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company for the Year. Nevertheless,
Shareholders should note that the Company is proposing to amend
its existing Articles of Association. Please see the circular for the
Company’s 2023 AGM dated 21 April 2023.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The major task and objective of the Group’s investor relations are to
clearly introduce the Group, including the business positioning,
existing operations and future development of the Group, to the
media, Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment banks
through different communication channels. In future, the Group shall
further enhance communication with the media, Shareholders,
investors, analysts and investment banks on various aspects such
as development strategies, operation and management, financial
prospects and business operation through meetings, senior
management’s participation in investor forums, conferences and
roadshows. The Group is confident in establishing and maintaining a
good relationship with the international capital institutions through
the continued enhancement of information transparency.

The Group emphasises the importance of maintaining good
communication with the Shareholders, so as to increase the
Company’s transparency and understanding by the Shareholders.
To enable that the Shareholders are effectively informed of the
Group’s status and developments, the Group issues
announcements, circulars, notices, interim and annual reports in a
timely manner. To enhance the Company’s transparency, other
information about the Company is published on the Company’s
website.
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The Company’s annual general meetings allow the Directors to meet
and communicate with the Shareholders and to answer any queries
that the Shareholders may have. An external independent auditor is
also present at the annual general meetings. The Chairman will
propose separate resolutions for each issue to be considered at the
annual general meetings. A notice of annual general meeting is
delivered to all Shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior to
the date of the meeting, setting out details of each proposed
resolution and other information. Voting results are posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the shareholders
communication policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is the primary decision-making body of the
Company, setting fundamental business strategies and policies for
the management and operation of the Group's business and
monitoring their implementation. The Board of Directors comprises
eight Directors, consisting of three executive Directors, two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The Directors are elected to serve terms of three years, which are
renewable upon re-election and/or re-appointment.

Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Wu Po Sum (#H7& % % &) (formerly known as Hua Jianming /&
3% 8), aged 72, is the Chairman of the Board, a non-executive
Director and Controlling Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wu is the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. He was appointed as a
Director on October 22, 2020 and was redesignated as a non-
executive Director and appointed as the Chairman of the Board on
November 6, 2020. Mr. Wu is responsible for formulating the overall
development and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Wu is one of
the Group's controlling shareholders. Mr. Wu is the father of Ms. Wu
Wallis, a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu is also a
director of various of the Group's subsidiaries, namely Start Ahead
Investment Limited, Central China Management (Hong Kong)
Limited and Henan Start Ahead Commercial Management Co., Ltd.*
G AT 2 EE AR A F]) (‘Henan Head Start”).

Mr. Wu is the founder of Central China Real Estate Limited (1
E W5 B FR A A*) (stock code: 832) (“CCRE’) and its subsidiaries
(the “CCRE Group”) and has nearly 30 years of experience in real
estate development and investment. He entered the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) real estate market in May 1992, when
he laid the foundation for the CCRE Group and established the
“Jianye (#£2)” brand name. He has always been the chairman and
an executive director of CCRE and a director of CCRE and various
subsidiaries of the CCRE Group, and is responsible for formulating
development strategies, making decisions on investment projects
and determining development directions of the CCRE Group
(including the Group).
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In 2017, Mr. Wu was invited to the selection of Golden Sunlight
Public Welfare Awards of Henan Daily (i1 EJ H 4t £ 5 ¢ Az 88)
and was awarded the “Meritorious Person of the First (2017) Central
China Social Responsibility (& & (2017) FREHA S ST« HENA D)
prize. Besides, the Benyuan Humanity Education Foundation in
Henan (7] B8 & AR A XL E @& & ) sponsored by him was awarded
the “Outstanding Nonprofit Organization of First (2017) Central
China Social Responsibility ( & [ (2017) R Rt @ HET - BEF A%
EE- A

Mr. Wu received various awards in 2018. He was appointed as the
“Deputy Director of the Advisory Committee of Industry and
Commerce Association of Henan Province (JAlF & LA E B
Z&|EE)", received the “Outstanding Contribution Entrepreneur of
Henan (37 7 £ 8 5 Bf (> % %X )” award at the “40 Years of Reform
and Opening up of Henan (37 # & 42 = 28 & B JR404F )" event
organized by Henan Daily, and was awarded the highest accolade
of a leading entrepreneur in the real estate industry in Henan at the
“40 Years of Reform and Opening up, Development of Central China
(B FIRRPU 44 & [R5, T K2 B )" by Henan Province Real Estate
Business Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Wu also received the “Golden
Camel Award” granted by the Society of Entrepreneurs and Ecology
Foundation for his significant contribution in promoting projects
concerning environmental protection.

Mr. Wu was an executive director and the chairman of the board of
DIT Group Limited (& & ER R EEER A A]) (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 726) from November 2019 to
August 2020. The principal business of DIT Group Limited includes
research and development, design, manufacture and sales of
assembled building prefabricated units. Mr. Wu has also been a
director of CURA Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
(LB BEREEERN BRI 2AF) (a company previously
listed on National Equities Exchange and Quotations of the PRC,
stock code: 833880, and subsequently delisted on December 5,
2019) since January 2013. CURA Investment Management
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. is principally engaged in the provision of
professional asset management services with a focus in private
equity real estate and real estate investment trusts.

Mr. Wu is a director of Joy Bright Investments Limited, wholly-owned
by him, which directly holds 62.79% of the shares of the Company
in issue.

Mr. Wu graduated from Zhengzhou University ( Zf 1 X £) in the
PRC in 1979, majoring in English.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing (#87k % %), aged 46, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director of the Group
on November 6, 2020. Mr. Hu is mainly responsible for overall daily
operation and management of the Group as well as its strategic
development. Mr. Hu is also a director of various of the Group's
subsidiaries, namely Zhongyuan Jianye, Henan Start Ahead and
Zhongyuan Jianye (Hainan).

Mr. Hu joined the CCRE Group in January 2004 and had held
various positions in the CCRE Group. These positions include
assistant to general manager, deputy general manager and general
manager of the financial center, deputy director and director of the
financial management center as well as the general manager of the
budget planning department, the executive vice president as well as
general manager of the financial management center, vice president,
chief financial officer and chief operating officer. Through these
senior management positions, he has overseen the Group's project
management business and its financial affairs since its launch, and
has participated in the Group's key management and decision
making. In July 2020, he was formally appointed as a director of
Zhongyuan Jianye. Since November 2020, he formally resigned
from all positions within the CCRE Group in order to continue to
focus on the Group’s business.

Mr. Hu is a Certified Public Valuer in the PRC, where he obtained
his license issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in
September 2001. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in state-owned
assets management and evaluation from School of Business
Administration of Zhongnan University of Economics ( 7 & 81 &< A 22
TEEEER) (currently known as Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law) (# @ 81 & BUE A2 ) in the PRC in July 1997,
and his master’s degree in business administration from Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University (1t A2 e EEEIEE
B% ) in the PRC in June 2004.
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Mr. Chen Aiguo (FRE B 5% 4 ), aged 43, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 9 January 2023.

Mr. Chen had over 15 years of experience in real estate enterprises
management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen served as the
general manager of Anyang Zengtai Materials Co., Ltd.* (%514
ZWE B AF) from March 2005 to December 2007. From
January 2008 to November 2010, Mr. Chen served as the chairman
of the board of directors of Anyang Duolun Mining Co., Ltd.* (%[5
Z TR % AR 2 7). Mr. Chen has been working as the chairman of
the board of directors of Henan Duolun Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.* (% Zfm B E R 2 B R 2 7)) since December 2010,
and a director of Anyang Jianye City Development Co., Ltd.* (%[5
EEHMEEGR AT since April 2013.

Mr. Chen graduated from the School of Economics and Management
of Henan University in June 1999, majoring in economic
management.

Mr. Duan Juwei (EZfE{Z % &), aged 39, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 9 January 2023.

Mr. Duan had over 12 years of experience in real estate enterprises
management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Duan served as the
chairman of Dancheng Yinghe Real Estate Co., Ltd.* ( E83 & & &
EH¥HBMR A F]) since May 2010. In 2014, Mr. Duan founded Henan
Jujia Weiye Industrial Development Co., Ltd.* (i E/ERE ¥ T £ 3
B B R A R]), in which he served as the general manager since
September 2014. In 2015, he founded the four-star Dancheng
Vienna International Hotel* ( #B4% 4 0, 4% BIBX A JE ), in which he
served as the chairman since July 2015. Since July 2016, Mr. Duan
served as the general manager of Fugou Jianyecheng Real Estate
Co., Ltd.* (/BB EFEME X HMR 2 A). Mr. Duan served as the
general manager of Huaiyang Junyang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (/[5
FE15E X B AT ) since December 2018. In 2019, Mr. Duan
founded Henan Jinhong Construction Co., Ltd.* (J7] 7 &85, 32 3% AR
‘A A]), where he served as the chairman since July 2019. Since July
2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of Henan Hanrun
Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (i Fa# H & % B R 2 7). Since September
2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of Xinxiang
Shengtang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (1T EEBEXABR A A).
Since December 2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of
Qixian Guiyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (IC % EE & ZER A 7).
Since September 2020, Mr. Duan served as the chairman of Jude
Holding Group (Henan) Co., Ltd.* (B2 R & B (r ) BR A RA).
Mr. Duan founded Fugou Yingbinfu Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (£k/& §438
ERE#ABMR A7) in 2021 and served as its general manager
since February 2021.
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Mr. Duan graduated from the Correspondence Institute of the Party
School of the Central Committee of CPC ( F e ok 5 4% [ 15 22 Pr )
in the PRC in December 2008, majoring in economic management.

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wu Wallis ( Z# 2z ) (alias: Li Hua), aged 41, is a non-
executive Director of the Company. She was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Group on November 6, 2020. Ms. Wu is
mainly responsible for supervising and reviewing the overall
business development and strategic planning of the Group. Ms. Wu
is the daughter of Mr. Wu Po Sum (the Chairman, a non-executive
Director and controlling shareholder).

Ms. Wu has been a non-executive director of CCRE and a director
of various subsidiaries of the CCRE Group since November 2007.
Ms. Wu has also been a non-executive director of DIT Group Limited
(BREEBHEBARZAF) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 726) since September 2019.

Ms. Wu obtained her bachelor’s degree in architecture from The
University of New South Wales in Australia in September 2006, and
her master’s degree in applied finance from Macquarie University in
Australia in August 2007.

Independent non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo ( &R B % 4 ), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Group on May 12, 2021.
Mr. Zhu is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of both the audit committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Zhu is primarily responsible for providing
independent judgment on the Group's strategies, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standard of conduct.

Mr. Zhu founded Joincare Pharmaceutical Group Industry Co., Ltd.
(FEETEEERRMD AR QT ) (previously known as Shenzhen
Aimier Food Co., Ltd.* (ORI E X B R MBR A F)) (a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600380) in
1992, and has been serving as its chairman ever since. Mr. Zhu has
also served as the chairman and a non-executive director of Livzon
Pharmaceutical Group Inc.* (BB EZEEFHKRHER A A) (a
company dually listed on the Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock codes: 1513 and 000513, respectively) since
2002.

70 CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A

ER e ER2008F 12 A X NP R P P RER
IR FIEEBEEIERE-

FHTES

FELL M REARFFERITESF - KRR
2020F 1M ABHEZERAKBEFNITESE -F
LTI ZAERENEHASEEBERER
ARREERE - F R L RBERAREE (XF I
MITESERIERRR) LR -

H2007FMAR Rt EEMEREEME
EEZEMBARIETHEATEERES A
2019F9R e T LM EEE AT ERTER
BRAR (—HEREZM EMHAE  BRHA:
726) HIFEFITEF o

2 2+ 72006459 A BUAF iz AR A F 28 89 37/
MATKEBFEESB L+ E] - WHKR2007F8 A LS
iz 7 S8 X F| 58 B9 Macquarie University & Fi & &l
EARE 4B

BAFHTES

KRBl K% 605% M2021565H12BEEZ TR
AEBBYIFATEFT RAEER/ARAFME
BEeXRURELZEGNERZBEXE K
EETBRERAKENRE BX KRB H
Al BR - BERZENTRRBIEHB LA -

RIEER1992F B R T S2 s S B R B IR
AAI(RBARINEBXBRERERAA) (—ME
REBEHFZGALETHAR RMKHARR:
600380) ' REAL B192FH—EHETHESE
Ko RELEB2002F REMMEEBIRB LB KD
BRAR (—HRBRXIRYESFRSHEE
EHHRA A SRS 1513F1000513) E = &
RIEHITESE -



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhu was appointed as a member of the Shenzhen Committee of
the third, fourth and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (CPPCC) in May 2000, May 2005 and May 2010,
respectively. Since August 2000, Mr. Zhu has served various roles,
including the vice president of the Shenzhen General Chamber of
Commerce (&Y 47 &), the vice chairman and honorable vice
president of the Shenzhen Federation of Industry and Commerce
(GRINITF I EEB A <€), the executive vice president of the
Shenzhen General Chamber of Commerce ((EJIT A2 A €) as

g0

well as the director of Shenzhen Business Elites Union (&I TR %
AN
FeT).

Mr. Zhu obtained his bachelor’s degree in chemistry from Henan
Normal University (/7] & Al &K £2) in the PRC in July 1985.

Mr. Xu Ying (#5554 ), aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Group on May 12, 2021. Mr. Xu is a
member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Xu is primarily
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group's
strategies, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standard of conduct.

From August 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Xu served as implementation
consultant and technical supervisor at Wandabao Software
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (FZBE X4 ORI BR 2 A]). Since April
2010, Mr. Xu served successively at Shenzhen Mingyuan Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.* (ORI TR ER AR 2 F]) (formerly
known as Shenzhen Mingyuan Software Holding Co., Ltd.* (F3IlTH
BRJR B4 B 15 B BR /A 7])) as an implementation consultant, manager
of the consulting department of the Shenzhen branch, director of
corporate services, as well as the chief specialist on cost, head of
solution center and dean of Mingyuan Real Estate Research
Institute (BFJR b ZE 7P ). Mr. Xu has over 10 years of experience
in the real estate industry and has been invited to speak at events
held by China Urban Realty Association, Shougang Fund and
Colony Capital as a special speaker. Since August 2019, Mr. Xu has
been a visiting professor at Changjian Business School ( & & if £
BT ). Mr. Xu has contributed to the publication of a number of
literature and industry reports, including “Best practice of Real
Estate Project Operation” ( EHZEIE B EZ HEEE) ), “Road to
A Hundred Billions” ( {F{& 2 ¥) ), “Annual Operation Analysis
Report of Listed Real Estate Companies” series ( & 1 F R
ZoirkE) %) and “New Challenges of the Epidemic, New
Opportunities for Real Estate Enterprises” ( (& 15 1 Pk & &= 1 5 #
B) ).
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EFAEREEERE

Mr. Xu obtained his bachelor’s degree in international economics
and trade from Zhongnan University (1 # A £) in the PRC in June
2004.

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (& & # 5t &£ ), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Group on May 12, 2021.
Mr. Siu is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Siu is primarily responsible for providing independent judgment on
the Group's strategies, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standard of conduct.

Mr. Siu has more than 24 years of accounting experience. Mr. Siu
joined KPMG (Hong Kong) in August 1994 as an accountant and
became a partner in July 2008. He was the head of Real Estate of
KPMG (China) and the head of Capital Markets Development,
Southern China of KPMG (China) before his retirement from KPMG
(China) in June 2018. Mr. Siu is currently an independent non-
executive director of Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited*
(BTIRRBD AR AF]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 0895), an independent non-executive director of China
Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1940), an independent non-executive
director of China Aluminum International Engineering Corporation
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2068), and an independent non-executive director of MicroPort
NeuroTech Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2172). Mr. Siu was an executive director of LVGEM (China)
Real Estate Investment Company Limited (x5 (R E) M ERE A
R 72 7)) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
0095) from 20 September 2019 to 20 September 2021 and an
independent non-executive director of Roiserv Lifestyle Services
Co., Ltd. (REXREERBEMH BR 2 F]) (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2146) from 6 April 2020 to 20 July
2022. Mr. Siu is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA), a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and a member of the Hong
Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association (HKINEDA).
He obtained the qualification certificate of independent directors for
listed companies ( LA A&7 EHE &7 F) from the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in February 2021.

Mr. Siu obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 1994.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Hu Bing

For details, please see the above paragraph headed “Executive
Directors”.

Mr. Wang Jun (£ E % %), aged 36, was appointed as the vice
president of the Group on 6 November 2020 and appointed as chief
executive officer of the Company on January 9, 2023. He is primarily
responsible for overall operation and management of the Group in
its project management business outside of Henan Province.

Mr. Wang joined CCRE in September 2010 and had held various
positions in the CCRE Group. Between September 2010 and
December 2015, he served successively as a marketing planning
specialist, deputy manager and manager in the sales and marketing
department of Zhoukou City division, and was mainly responsible for
the marketing in such region. Between December 2015 and March
2019, he served successively as a manager in the marketing
management department of Zhoukou regional head office as well as
assistant general manager of Luyi Project, assistant general
manager of Zhoukou regional head office, and general manager of
Zhoukou division, and was responsible for the management of real
estate projects and asset-light projects in such region. Since March
2019, he has been the vice president of Henan Zhongyuan Central
China City Development Co., Ltd.* (AR REEMHERERABR A
Al), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, and is mainly
responsible for the management of its asset-light business outside
of Henan Province.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’s degree in graphic design from
Jiujiang University (/1)T267) in the PRC in July 2010.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Board presents the annual report with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of project management
services in Henan and other provinces in the PRC. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue for the Year by principal activities is set out in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages from 20 to 39 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group
operates its business in compliance with applicable environmental
protection laws and regulations and has implemented relevant
environmental protection measures in compliance with the required
standards under applicable PRC laws and regulations. Further
details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance will
be disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report of
the Company for the Year has been published in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. As set out in “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Financial Analysis — Material lending transactions”, the
Group provided various loans to its independent strategic customers
on 1 December 2022. These loans constituted discloseable
transactions under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, for which the
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Company published the relevant announcement on 13 April 2023.
Save as above, during the Year, there was no material breach of, or
non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
suppliers are the key to its sustainable and stable development. The
Group is committed to establishing a close relationship with its
employees, enhancing cooperation with its suppliers and providing
high-quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure
the Group's sustainable development.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management considers there to be one operating segment under
the requirements of HKFRS 8.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group’s profit for the Year and the state of the Group’s affairs as
at the date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 98 to 101 of this annual report.

RESULT AND DIVIDENDS

Profit attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of RMB303.4
million (2021: RMB770.1 million) have been transferred to reserves.
Other movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The Board resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK$2.70 cents
per ordinary share for the Year (for the year ended 31 December
2021: HK$9.90 cents per ordinary share). HK5.81 cents per ordinary
share (for the six months ended 30 June 2021: HK8.60 cents per
ordinary share) was distributed as interim dividend for the six
months ended 30 June 2022.

The final dividend shall be subject to the approval of the 2023 AGM
and such dividend is expected to be paid on or around Monday, 31
July, 2023 to the shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 20
July 2023.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 AGM will be held on Wednesday, 31 May 2023. Notice of
the 2023 AGM has been published and issued to shareholders on
21 April 2023.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Friday, 26 May 2023 to Wednesday, 31 May
2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. All properly completed share transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 25 May 2023, for
registration.

For the purposes of determining the entitlement of the shareholders
to the proposed Final Dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 19 July 2023 to Thursday,
20 July 2023 (both days inclusive), during no transfer of shares will
be registered. All properly completed share transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan chai, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 18 July 2023, for
registration.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 196 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 21(a) to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in note 21(d) to the financial
statements and in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity,
respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 40.3% of the Group’s total purchases
and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately
25.6% of the Group’s total purchases.

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than
10.7% of the Group’s total turnover and sales to the largest
customer amounted to approximately 2.4% of the Group’s total
turnover.

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates, or any Shareholder owning more than
5% of the Company’s share capital, had any interest in the Group’s
five largest customers or five largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Po Sum
Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing

Mr. Chen Aiguo (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Duan Juwei (appointed on 9 January 2023)
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng (resigned on 9 January 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo
Mr. Xu Ying
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to
Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number
of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to
retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment. In accordance with Articles 83(3), 84(1) and 84(2) of
the Articles of Association, Mr. Chen Aiguo, Mr. Duan Juwei, Mr. Xu
Ying and Mr. Siu Chi Hung will retire from their offices at the 2023
AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual written confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
such information, the Company still considers the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 66 to 73 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by not less than thirty (30) days’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has any existing or proposed service contracts
with any member of the Group (excluding contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save for the relevant transactions as disclosed in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements or the connected transactions
described in this report, none of the Directors or an entity connected
with the Directors had a material beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, nor any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries, during the Year or as at 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was considered to be
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

All Directors are entitled to a fee as approved by the Board with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors
are entitled to fees, salaries, housing allowances, other allowances,
benefits in kind (including contribution to the pension scheme on
behalf of the Directors) or discretionary bonuses, which are
determined by the Board having regard to the Group’s performance
and the prevailing market conditions and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company. Details of Directors’
emoluments and emoluments of five highest paid individuals of the
Company are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
directors (the “Directors”) and chief executives of the Company in
the shares (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures (the
“Debentures”) of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of
the Company

Name of Director
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MN2022F 128318 AR RAER ([BEE]) &
BITBRABEARBISKERE L8 (E&LESH
MEFEGED ([EHFRBE®RD ) EXV ) MK
B (IRe])  HEkG REEE ([EEE]) T
HERAREES KB EKRNIEISAFETEN
HZMAKIRIEES R EIEOIEXVEHETRED
Ee AR R TR BIM SR+ TSI ESFRIZBEAN S
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(@) REQXTARORMEBROPHTRE

Approximate

percentage of the

interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

or chief executive Capacity and nature of interest Shares held share capital "
HERARE#IT
RANERBN

ESHRSTHRABHS SORERME FERGHE B2t

Mr. Wu Po Sum Interest in a controlled corporation 2,065,631,867 62.79%

TARAREE R EE R

Mr. Hu Bing Beneficial owner 11,220,000 0.34%

FRK S A En#BA

Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) Interest of a spouse 10,200,000 0.31%

PR+ B B &

Note: BieE

1. The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s 1. RERFEBTRAFHEEHOE S

issued share capital is based on a total of 3,289,706,120 Shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2022.

b T3 R AN A B 202212 A31E B 317
B 1 & $£3,289,706,1200% A5t & o
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(b)

82

Long position in the shares of our associated (b)

corporation

Name of Director

Name of associated

corporation

Nature of interest

REMEBEZERGFHER

Percentage of

interests in

the associated

corporation

Class and number immediately as at
of shares held 31 December 2022*

Sum. Therefore, Joy Bright Investments Limited is a controlled
corporation of Mr. Wu Po Sum and Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed
to be interested in the same number of CCRE Shares that Joy
Bright Investments Limited is interested in under the SFO.

The spouse of Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) is interested in
14,700,000 CCRE Shares beneficially owned by him, as well as
44,000 CCRE Shares that may be allotted and issued to him
upon full exercise of the Share options granted by CCRE to him.
Therefore, Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) is deemed to be
interested in the same number of CCRE Shares as her spouse
is interested in under the SFO.
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20225128310
R % RAEESEE R
BEEpR HE B &R ERtHE HRIRHE EREDEO
Mr. Wu Po Sum Joy Bright Investments Limited  Beneficial owner 20,000 100%
AR EAE RERERRAR EREBA
Mr. Wu Po Sum CCRE Interested in a Controlled 1,272,734,299 41.88%
Corporation
EREE BREME REEE RO
Ms. Wu Wallis CCRE Interest of a spouse @ 14,744,000 0.49%
FHEELLE BREME ABER?
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng CCRE Beneficial owner 3,800,000 0.13%
(resigned on (Share options) @
9 January 2023)
SEELE BEME EEERAA (BRE)®
(R2023%F1H9H
BHE)
Notes: et -
Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Po 1. BEREERAFBAMERTLELEHE

BeoElt BIEREER AR RBBERE
ENREEE MARKEEREES R
HEGNER AR EEREGR DA
BN ERBBEREEBERODTHES

FEREZITOEBREEZAERD
14,700,000 3 3% 1 72 B 1) 7 5 A -
NREREBERTHE 2 BREERHR
TT{E & Al AL A 3% K2 3217 #044,000 8 2 % 4t
ERM P EE R B RIEESF KA
EEP FHZIRRRNERBERE
2N ARBENREMERDPESE
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3. Mr. Ma Xiaoteng is interested in 3,800,000 CCRE Shares that
may be allotted and issued to him upon full exercise of the
share options granted by CCRE to him.

4. The approximate percentage of the interest in CCRE's issued
share capital is based on a total of 3,039,126,090 Shares of
CCRE in issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company or their associates had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executives were deemed or taken to have under the provisions of
the SFO), or which were required to be and are recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2022, other than the interests and
short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures” above, the following persons had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in the Shares

REBROHHER

Approximate

percentage of the

interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Capacity and nature of interest Shares held share capital ©®
HER AR B #IT
IR A fE 2
BRREE A B RERMEE iR &8 BMOBEDE®
Joy Bright Investments Limited (" Beneficial owner 2,065,631,867 62.79%
BEREGRQAO EREAA
Ms. Wu Lam Li @ Interest of spouse 2,065,631,867 62.79%
P L@ Fo B =
Notes: Btet -

1. Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wu Po Sum.
Under the SFO, Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares in which Joy Bright Investments Limited is
interested.

2. Ms. Wu Lam Li, being the spouse of Mr. Wu Po Sum, is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in the Shares in which Mr. Wu Po Sum is
interested for the purpose of the SFO.

3. The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s issued
share capital is based on a total of 3,289,706,120 Shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, there was no
other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any borrowings.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has subscribed appropriate directors’
and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group which remains in force.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the Year, the Group has entered into the following continuing
connected transactions:

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On May 13, 2021, a trademark licensing agreement (the “Trademark
Licensing Agreement”) was entered into between CCRE and our
Company, pursuant to which CCRE agreed to grant to the Group the
right to use certain trademarks of the CCRE Group registered in the
PRC and Hong Kong (the “Licensed Trademarks”) for the Group's
business operations and investment activities, as well as the right to
sub-lease the Licensed Trademarks to third parties solely for the
purpose of business operation of the Group. The Trademark
Licensing Agreement has a term of ten years commencing from the
Listing, unless otherwise terminated by both parties. Neither CCRE
nor the Group has the right to unilaterally terminate the Trademark
Licensing Agreement. Pursuant to the Trademark Licensing
Agreement, the licensing fee payable by the Group to CCRE from
Listing onwards will be: (1) for the first three years: RMB15 million
per year; (2) for the fourth to sixth year: RMB20 million per year; and
(3) for the seventh to tenth year: RMB25 million per year. Such
licensing fee will be calculated on a pro-rated basis for less than an
entire calendar year

The annual cap for the licensing fee for the Year was RMB15 million.

For the Year, the licensing fees payable by the Group under the
Trademark Licensing Agreement amounted to RMB15,000,000.
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Property Management Services Framework Agreement

On May 13, 2021, our Company and Central China New Life Limited
entered into a property management services framework agreement
(the “Property Management Services Framework Agreement”)
for a term commencing from Listing to December 31, 2023, pursuant
to which Central China New Life Limited shall provide property
management services at the Group’s place of business and
headquarter in Zhengzhou and other branch offices (the “Property
Management Services”) to the Group. The Property Management
Services Framework Agreement was agreed upon on normal
commercial terms after arm’s length negotiations, and the property
management fees were determined based on the (i) number, nature,
category and location of the properties; (ii) GFA of the properties; (iii)
rate generally offered by Central China New Life to Independent
Third Parties in respect of comparable services; (iv) anticipated staff
costs of Central China New Life; and (v) prevailing market prices for
comparable services by obtaining quotations from at least two
Independent Third Parties for the provision of similar services to
determinate if the terms offered by Central China New Life are fair
and reasonable and comparable to those offered by Independent
Third Parties. With respect to each property, the relevant members
of Central China New Life and the Group will further enter into an
individual separate agreement that prescribes the specific terms and
conditions of each property.

The annual cap for the property management services for the Year
was RMB3.5 million.

For the Year, the service fees payable by the Group under the
Property Management Services Framework Agreement amounted to
approximately RMB1,548,000.

As at the dates of these agreements and up to the date of this
report, Mr. Wu Po Sum is the controlling shareholder of the
Company, and indirectly owned more than 30% equity interests in
CCRE and Central China New Life Limited. Therefore, the
abovementioned transactions also constitute the continuing
connected transactions of the Company. Details of these
agreements are set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 18
May 2021.

The Board confirmed that there is no material change in the
contractual arrangements and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted, and its impact on the Group. The Board also
confirmed that there is no unwinding of the structured contracts or
failure to unwind when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the
structured contracts are removed.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the relevant
framework agreements and confirmed that the framework
agreements have been entered into:

a) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there were not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they were
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favorable to the
Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and

c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions for the Year in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the connected
transaction and continuing connected transactions as disclosed
above, none of these related party transactions is required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2022
which would materially affect the Group’s operating and financial
performance as of the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the Year, the Board recognized that the repurchase of Shares
could increase the net asset value and/or earnings per share, so the
Company repurchased a total of 7,044,000 Shares on the Stock
Exchange during the Year, with a total consideration of
approximately HK$7,174,000 (including the transaction cost). As at
the date of this annual report, all repurchased Shares have been
repurchased but not yet cancelled.

The Directors believed that the repurchase was made to reflect the
Company’s recognition of the value and confidence in the long-term
prospects of the industry. Details of the repurchase of Shares of the
Company were as follows:

HREHEEER

HEA®REBH 102022F12 8310 2 &%
EEAERFHEBHARENEE MM BRIR
ELXBATE-

BE  HESBEARQXTLHES

AEE EETERAELQRGAIZNEEFE
YR ERER MARRNAREEEBZFTE
[ & $£7,044,0000% i% 15 - 8B 49 &7,174,000
BT (BREXRFER) RAFHRAH FAEED
f& 1D B BB BE M AR EE S o

ESRA ETRERRTARAHEENRR
ARHITRRBRIROED AR RBERRAD K
FEEIT

Number of Shares

Date of repurchase Repurchased Price per Share
i AEISREG] EREEROHA BRER
Highest (HK$) Lowest (HK$)
&& (Bx) RIE (Bx)
1 April 2022 202294 318 320,000 1.22 1.22
12 April 2022 202294 3128 370,000 1.27 1.23
18 May 2022 2022F5H18H 350,000 1.15 1.12
26 May 2022 2022F5H26H 256,000 1.18 1.1
27 May 2022 20225 H27H 250,000 1.14 1.12
30 May 2022 2022%5H30H 420,000 1.16 1.13
31 May 2022 2022%5H31H 250,000 1.19 1.14
1 June 2022 202296418 670,000 1.19 1.16
14 June 2022 2022463148 380,000 1.26 1.2
17 June 2022 2022F6 H17H 246,000 1.23 1.16
27 June 2022 202256 H27H 250,000 1.16 1.16
28 June 2022 202256 H28H 430,000 1.18 1.15
14 July 2022 202247 H148 520,000 0.95 0.90
5 September 2022 202299 A5H 650,000 0.77 0.72
6 September 2022 202299 A6H 306,000 0.79 0.78
22 September 2022 2022F9H22H 260,000 0.74 0.70
26 September 2022 2022F9H26H 680,000 0.72 0.70
30 September 2022 202259 H30H 436,000 0.70 0.67
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and
motivate talented individuals to contribute to the success of the
business. The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
formulated and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regards to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) pursuant to the MPF Schemes Ordinance for all its
employees in Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in Hong
Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to consolidated income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as of 31 December 2022.
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EFERE

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the
applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in a state managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific percentage of their
payroll costs to the retirement benefits schemes. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to
make the specified contributions. During the reporting period, the
total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and costs
charged to the consolidated income statement represent contribution
payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed level of public float during the Year and
up to the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations and other donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to RMB1,000,000 (2021: nil).

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

For the Year, the Company was not involved in any litigation,
arbitration or claims of material importance and there was no
litigation or claim of material importance which was known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened by or against the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report at pages 40 to 65 of
this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the Annual
Results, including the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and discussed auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters with the
management as well as reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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AUDITORS

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

By order of the board

Wu Po Sum

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZBENRE

KPMG'

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Central China Management Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Central
China Management Company Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 98 to 195, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in
the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.

Revenue recognition

LN

B BE RS

FRENEE

MAEEFFEERERMNEXAE  RAEAN
MR M B HRERNBETRRERNSTH ZFH
EERMEBABEBSAMBBRREIEBAERR
ETREN RMATSHELETREHEBNE
Ho

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(s).

BRRIRE B IRE N 3R Mt 1(s) BB & ©
The Key Audit Matter
HRESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ET AR EZSBE

The Group is principally engaged in the
provision of project management services in
Henan and other provinces in the People’s
Republic of China. Revenue from the o

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition arising from the
provision of project management services included the following:

Bt et B ERR R MELENBRARRBOETEFEEATRE

provision of project management services for
the year ended 31 December 2022 totalled
RMB605.7 million (2021: RMB1,301.4
million).
EEETIENTEARKMBETEE KEM
BN ERHEEHERZR - # £2022F
12A3MBLFE BHEMERZRE W
AGHAEARKE05.7TE BT (2021F: AR
#1,30148 8 7T) °

The Group’s project management services
cover the life cycle of the project development
covering the project research and approval,
design and planning, construction, sales and
after-sales stages. Project management
service fee income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated service
period. The service period typically ranges
from three years to five years.
EEENFEHERERERERBMENE
BB BFEEB MR LT Rt LRE -
BiE HERERREER B ERER
BB WAL IR B A 12 B AR B AERER
RBBRBENF=FERF-

evaluating the design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over the revenue recognition on provision of
project management services;
AREREFEEREZRE B AERNEREAZEF R B
NETTHEXIE

inspecting project management service contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify key terms and conditions relating to the provision
of project management services and assessing the Group’s
revenue recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;
mMEREEMERERBAR UETRBREHEMERERSEE
BMOBERGR GG Y2ZRTEAHENNERFHEEED
WA RERBR

obtaining and inspecting underlying documentation in respect of
revenue recognised, on a sample basis, which included signed
project management service contracts, project development plans,
progress reports, project construction permits and pre-sale permits,
the formal confirmation regarding incentive fees (if applicable),
invoices and bank-in slips and assessing the business substance of
the underlying transactions and whether the related revenue had
been recognised in accordance with the Group’s revenue
recognition policies;

BRI HEERABRERNER X UERNAER BIEEE
ENEMERRRB AR RBREE EERE BERBR
ARFEEA - REHEANEXER (WER) BRERBITESE

AAEEEAXSNEBEE ARBEARARTGERRESENYK
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition

WA RERR

FARRESTEIE 2

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(s).

BRI A SRR3R M et 1(s) B & 5T B R

The Key Audit Matter
HRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNETMAEEZEE

For project management contracts that
contain incentive fees based on the future
sales performance, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount. We
identified revenue recognition as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and is
significant to the consolidated financial
statements, both of which give rise to an
inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of
revenue recognition.
REEERNAKRHEXENEEEERGE
WEMERREANS EXEAEAKA
RReHEMAFRESR - RAHWAERETE
RARETEE ARVARESENBASR
XBHEREZ— HESVBHRRE %EK
W & 15 T A 4R A M A T SR s D A [ B L B

conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to development projects
in progress under the Group’s management and discussing with the
seconded project managers as well as the customers’ management
to observe the development progress of the projects with reference
to the project developing plan and assess the estimated service
period;

HESEEENAEREBETHEENER WHERER KR
&%}5 EREE T 2RI REGFETEEENREER

I ek TR AR HA

obtaining confirmations, on a sample basis, to confirm the contract
amount, the project management service period, the transactions
during the year and the year-end balances; for unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative procedures by comparing
details with contracts, bank-in slips and other underlying project
related documentation and

MEESHEIAEUNERCASR FHEREREHR FARS
&iﬁi EER ;TEAERL@EGEEM = BBEHAGEREAR RT
TrE N H 18 B ARRA AR X MHET L BURMITERER - &

assessing the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of
completion progress and revenue from provision of project
management services.

AHER EERGEE MR B ERERBELE WA N BB LR -

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B I 3R R I B BURT 3R &5 AP RS

AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.
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BIAZBENRE

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

96

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tse Wong Pui.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FERaR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B 2202212310 IFFE (UAREZIE)

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Hia AR®T T ARBTT
Revenue ON 3 605,679 1,301,449
Other income Hip WA 4 35,565 34,910
Personnel cost YN=1 %N 5(b) (123,069) (196,859)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 1 & M # §4 57 52 5(c) (18,827) (18,177)
Listing expenses WX - (19,711)
Other operating expenses HMgEMs (58,671) (72,330)
Impairment losses on trade and other B 5 & H At B UGRIATI & 49
receivables and contract assets BERREEE 22(a) (36,633) (15,482)
Finance costs B AN 5(a) (211) (413)
Share of loss of an associate FE(H — BB & A Rl 1E (271) (509)
Profit before taxation BR B A % A 5 403,562 1,012,878
Income tax Frig it 6 (100,085) (242,723)
Profit for the year FERA 303,477 770,155
Attributable to: LAUTBEAL :
Equity shareholders of the Company KARIEEFEA 303,477 770,155
Earnings per share BREF
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) — BERR#EE (ARESD) 9 9.23 24.39

~

The notes on pages 106 to 195 form part of these financial Z106E= 1958 FIB B AN 5z B — 2D
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of i F U3 | J& [m) 48 A 7] # 25 A% 5K 1 69 A% B
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note  15& R 5E21(b) °

21(b).

o

R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FERaREMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 2202212 A31H IEFE (UARES|E)

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%T ARBT T
Profit for the year L FEmN N 770,155
Other comprehensive income for the year SEHM2HEKE (RBKER
(after tax and reclassification ENSEELHARR)
adjustments)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit BreE s BEERNER -
orloss:
Equity investments at fair value through other 1R A FE A EMEEUZE 2
comprehensive income — net movement BRAZE— A ERFEE (R
in fair value reserve (non-recycling) w@E) 2 B8)FEE (3,182) =
Items that may be reclassified subsequently — FGEREI{E BT 7 M E B i)
to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences on translation of ITE G N B A B B 7 Rk Y
financial statements of overseas & 3 =R
subsidiaries 3,607 (95)
Other comprehensive income for the year S EHtt2mE K= 425 (95)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXHKEHEE 303,902 770,060
Attributable to: TR
Equity shareholders of the Company RARIEEFEA 303,902 770,060

The notes on pages 106 to 195 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AaEMBERKAR

At 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
R2022F12531H (UA R#Z(E)

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
K e AR¥T AREET T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment property and property, WEMERYE BFERZRE
plant and equipment 10 12,027 20,212
Intangible assets EmEEE 10 5,585 9,628
Interest in an associate A — & R R AR 12 2,230 2,501
Other financial assets Hib e B E 13 4,894 8,076
Deferred tax assets EEIEEE 20(b) 17,934 10,158
e 42670 | ! 90,575
Current assets REEE
Contract assets ENEE 14(a) 425,028 300,500
Trade and other receivables B 5 & A b e GRIA 15 661,121 568,150
Cash and cash equivalents ReEARESCEED 16 1,564,617 1,975,806
e e e 2,650,766 - 2,844,456
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 2 5 & E b ER 5RI8 17 116,201 128,258
Contract liabilities BHEE 14(b) 291,968 393,249
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 2,462 4,464
Current taxation BN EAR 18 20(a) 104,234 47,822
e 914,865 573,793
Noetcurrentassets .. #WEOEESE I SR LZIUEES
Total assets less current liabilities BRAERRBAE 2,178,571 2,321,238
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

RaMBERRE (=

At 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
R2022F12A31H (UA R#Z1E)

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k23 AR TR ARET T
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 636 1,609
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,177,935 2,319,629
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR R E
Share capital fig 2 21(a) 26,990 27,035
Reserves & 21(d) 2,150,945 2,292,594
Total equity attributable to equity EATREREEAERGEZ
shareholders of the Company HEE 2,177,935 2,319,629
TOTAL EQUITY R 2,177,935 2,319,629

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20

March 2023.

Wu Po Sum
HER

Chairman and Non-executive Director

EERIPTEF

The notes on pages 106 to 195 form part of these financial

statements.

72023 F3 200 EEE 2 HE RIRETIE -

Hu Bing
K
Executive Director

HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReEKEDR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ANTREREARE
Other  Statutory Fair value
Share Share Treasury capital reserve  Exchange reserve Retained
capital premium shares reserve fund reserves (non-recycling) profits Total
Afp EE AYBRRE
k& BRAEE  EERG  EARR REe  ERRE (FEE)  REEA it
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
it ARETR  ARMTR ARETR ARBTn  ARETn ARETR ARMTR ARETR  ARETR
(Note 212) Note 21l (Note 21(c)) (Note 21(c|i) (Note 21(clv)) (Note 21c)y)
(K21) (Raamein) (Ka2Aeh) (BE2100) (BE2160) (BE2160)
Balance at 1 January 2022 RN2E1B1RNES 27,035 518,675 (6,950) 130,438 223,295 (19) - 45 2319629
Changes in equity for 2022: NNEREEY:
Proft for the year FERH - - - - - - - 303417 303477
Other comprehensive income il e - - - - - 3,607 (3,182) - 45
Total comprehensive income 2ENEER - - - - - 3,607 (3182) 303477 303,902
Cancellation of repurchased shares = #EER () (45) (6,905) 6,950 - - - - - -
Purchase of own shares BEASRN 1o - - (6,408) - - - - - (6,408)
Appropriation fo statutory resenve fund - EEZ TR ES 21o)f) - - - - 19,698 - - (19,698) -
Dividends approved inrespectofthe ~ BAEEEHENEE
previous year 21b) - (263,541) - - - - - - (263,541)
Dividends declared in respectofthe ~ AEEERERENRS
current year 21(b) - - - - - - - (176,659) (176,659)
Eqly e hreese pyment MREEAWBORNR 6 L S T . S T S =
Balance at 31 December 2022 RN2E12ANBINER 26,990 248,229 (6,408) 131,450 242,993 3528 (3182 153433 277,935

The notes on pages 106 to 195 form part of these financial Z106E= 1958 HIBI B AT Rz —E5 o
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)
ReEHRRER(E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARaAERRE A EE
Other Statutory
Share Share Treasury capital reserve Exchange Retained
capital premium shares reserve fund reserves profits Total
kx  BAEE  ERRD EbEREE  GREEE  EXRE  REER &
Note RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
i3 ARBTT  ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(Note 21(2) (Note 21(c)ii) ~ (Note 21(c)() - (Note 21c)i)) (Note 21(c)iv)
(Wi213) (Waacin) (WE21e)) (WE2nehi) (Hz2ic)i)
Balance at 1 January 2021 RONF1B1BHES - - - 127,021 144,138 16 736,217 1,007,392
Changes in equity for 2021: NNEEELE:
Profitfor the year EEaA - - - - - - 770,155 770,155
Other comprehensive income R 2EhE - - = = = (%) = (%)
Total comprehensive income PENHER - - - - - (%) 770,155 770,060
Capitalisation issue uN&:3 21(a) 24,343 (24,343) - = = = = =
Issuance of shares by initial public ~ EEENAREELS
oferng B 219 262 TI8E . - . - I T
Purchase of own shares BERIRH 21(e)fi) - - (6,950) - - = = (6,950)
Appropriation to statutory reserve fund  EEZEFEES 21(c)fi) - - - - 79,157 = (79,457) =
Dividends declared inrespectofthe ~ ZEEEAZREHRE
current year 21(b) - (235,813) - - - - - (235,813)
Equity setfled share-based payment MR BRI T3 19 - - - 3417 - - = 3417
Balance at 31 December 2021 RONE12R3BHES 27,035 518,675 (6,950) 130,438 223,295 (19 1421215 2,319,629
*  The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * ESREENARK1,0007TH -

The notes on pages 106 to 195 form part of these financial 2510621958 HIB B AT KHER N —E5 -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FEeElaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B 2202212310 IFFE (UAREZIE)

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Hia AR¥T ARBT T
Operating activities KETE
Cash generated from operations KEMMBIRS 16(b) 185,946 788,486
PRC tax paid B B IA 20(a) (51,449) (265,001)
Net cash generated from operating RETHHBRETHE
el B 523485
Investing activities REETH
Payment for the purchase of property, BEWHE WEREHED
plant and equipment 3R (1,020) (10,055)
Payment for the purchase of intangible & B £ & ER R
assets (7,555) (2,903)
Advances to related parties w) BB 5 EA 3K - (150,000)
Repayment from related parties RaHE 77 B 1,600 993,220
Advances to third parties ME=F XK (428,530) (317,552)
Repayment from loan to third parties FE-HEEEX 320,742 =
Payment for investment in other RENEME/EER
financial assets (BN - (8,076)
Interest received 2 W F B 17,864 33,043
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (FTA) i
_Investing activities Re Rl (96,899) 537,677
Financing activities RMEEE
Proceeds from issuance of shares by BBE RN AREEERITRGD
initial public offering, net of share Y PT1S 3RIE - HIBRAR (5 8
issuance expenses TR - 781,523
Repurchase of own shares BORH RN (6,408) (6,950)
Dividend paid B S 21(b) (440,200) (235,813)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHERSNEARBLY 16(c) (5,574) (8,368)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEERSMF SIS 16(c) (211) (413)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEE (FTA) 8
financing activities R&FHE (452,393) 529,979
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)
meEReRER(E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ft it ARBTR ARETE

Net (decrease)/increase incashand HR&RELEEY

cash equivalents (RA) /EmFEE (414,795) 1,591,141
Cash and cash equivalents at MAMENEREREEE

1 January By 16(a) 1,975,806 384,599
Effect of foreign exchange rate NEEZSEHTE

changes 3,606 66
Cash and cash equivalents at R12AMANBEERRESE

31 December BEY 16(a) 1,564,617 1,975,806

The notes on pages 106 to 195 form part of these financial 1061958 M TR AN ISRz — 5 o
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 R R oE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

Central China Management Company Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 October 2020, as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Companies Act’). Its principal place of business is at
Room 7701A, 77th Floor, International Commerce Centre, No. 1
Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong and has its registered
office at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 31 May 2021 (the “Listing Date”).
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of project management services
in Henan and other provinces in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASSs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in
these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation and functional and
presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) and the
Group’s interest in an associate. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
rounded to the nearest thousand except as otherwise
indicated, while the Company’s functional currency is the
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

investments in debt and equity securities (see note

1().

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1

108

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

. Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts
— cost of fulfilling a contract

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting the
proceeds from selling items produced before that asset
is available for use from the cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment. Instead, the sales proceeds and
the related costs should be included in profit and loss.
The amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts
— cost of fulfilling a contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous, the cost of
fulfilling the contract includes both the incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Previously, the Group included only incremental costs
when determining whether a contract was onerous. In
accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
has applied the new accounting policy to contracts for
which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January
2022, and has concluded that none of them is onerous.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1

110

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate (see note 1(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(k)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including participation
in the financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 1(k)(ii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the period are recognised in the
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see note 1(k)(i)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1

112

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset(see note 1(f)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see note 22(c). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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NOTES TO TH

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)
(i) Investments other than equity investments

(ii)

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 1(s)(iii)).

fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised
in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be
made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of
whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(s)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1

114

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note
1(j)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
provision for any impairment (see note 1(k)(ii)).in value.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over
the expected useful life.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(k)(ii)).

— Items of plant and equipment, including right-of use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 1(j)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Properties leased for own use Over the lease terms

— Motor vehicles 4 years
— Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years
— Leasehold improvements 1to 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 1(k)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

— Software 2 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 R R oE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(j)) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of

the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As alessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components and
accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single

lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease

term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO TH

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)]

(i)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see notes 1(h) and 1(k)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)]

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has
taken advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO TH

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables and other receivables); and

contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
note 1(1)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof;

variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 R R oE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and

contract assets (Continueq)

Measurement of ECLs (Continueq)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the

reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to

which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued), the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in
which case the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO TH

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on
the financial instrument assessed at the reporting
date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days
past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 R R oE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and

contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continueqd)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status

and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 1(s)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset

have occurred.
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NOTES TO TH

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income(Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
lease receivable or contract asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 R R oE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

— Investment property;
— intangible assets;

— investment in an associate; and

— investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 48 R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EEEEE®
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (k) EEEEREEREGE)

(i) BMERBEERE ()

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continueqd)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1

126

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

U

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would
at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(k)(i)
and (ii)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 1(s)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(k)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 1(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(s)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 1(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

1(s)(iii))
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

(o)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 1(1)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 1(k)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in note 1(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1

128

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC
and the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value
of the options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the options
will vest.
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NOTES TO TH

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Equity-settled share-based payments
(Continueqd)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior year is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in
share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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1

130

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Project management service fee income

Project management service fee income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated service period.

Variable consideration

For project management contracts that contain
variable consideration based on the future sales
performance of the project, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO TH

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

(i)

(ii)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Project management service fee income
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided
by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer. The Group is an agent if
its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not
control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Dividend income
Dividend income from unlisted investments is

recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 48 R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 R R oE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note 1(k)(i)).

(t) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

Related parties

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statement are evaluated continually and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that may have a significant effect
on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities mainly include
those related to property development activities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

140

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Note 22 contains information about the assumption and their
risk factors relating to financial instruments. Other accounting
judgements and key sources of significant estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Credit loss for trade and other receivables and
contract assets

Credit losses for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are determined based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected credit loss rates. The
Group adjusts judgement in making the assumption and
selecting inputs for computing such impairment loss,
broadly based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting periods.

Variable consideration

Variable consideration comprises base management
fees based on pre-agreed milestones and incentive fees
that the Group may earn by meeting the conditions set
out in the Group’s project management service contracts
with customers. The estimated amount of variable
consideration will be included in the transaction price
only to the extent that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The
Group considers whether the amount of variable
consideration is constrained based on its historical
experience, current negotiations with customers and the
current economic conditions.
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NOTES TO TH

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are provision of
project management services.

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from contracts with customers is as
follows:

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 48 R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

3 WARSEHRSE
(a) WA

AEENEIEZXBREAFSHER
AR -

(i) FEFEXHBAMT :

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Revenue from contracts with BREBMBEHRELERES
customers within the scope of REEVRERERERNE
HKFRS15 and recognised over IS F SILON
time
— Provision of project management — 2t = i E KR 2 AR
services 605,679 1,301,449

The Group’s customer base is diversified and
includes no customer with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from provision of project
management services

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregated notional
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts is RMB2,872,847,000
(2021: RMB3,102,923,000). The Group will
recognise the expected revenue from project
management service contracts in future by
measuring the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation, during
the estimated project management service period
which typically ranges from three years to five
years.

AEBNEFEZ T X E
HEMEPNRZBLAKE
WESEI10% ©

KEREFEEEREREIK
AFRRIR B &R

(ii)

R2022F12A831H D EEE AR
ESEBRBENETHRTITEBNE
THORGERZELEAAR
#2,872,847,0007T (20214 : A
R #3,102,923,0007T) ° A 5= &
B ET R ERERSE (8
BN TIFESF)N BRES
ERBHNEENEE RARR
EREMERERBEEGLOMNTE
HAUW A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

142

(@) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from provision of project
management services (Conlinued)

The above amount does not include any amounts
of incentive fee that the Group may earn in the
future by meeting the conditions set out in the
Group’s project management service contracts with
customers, unless at the reporting date it is highly
probable that the Group will satisfy the conditions
for earning those bonuses.

(b) Segment reporting

(i)

(ii)

Services from which reportable segments
derive their revenue

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment
performance is more focused on the Group as a
whole, as all of the Group’s activities are
considered to be primarily dependent on the
performance on project management service.
Resources are allocated based on what is
beneficial for the Group in enhancing its project
management service activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only
one operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.

Geographical information
No geographical information is shown as the

revenue and profit from operations of the Group is
all derived from activities in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B E2022F12H31H 1L F/Z (AANREZ(E)

OTHER INCOME 4 HlgA
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Interest income on financial assets BEEKNAFTTENEREERN
measured at amortised cost F B U A 25,085 33,043
Government grants BT 8 B 9,404 -
Others HAh 1,076 1,867
35,565 34,910
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 BR#HBEDEF

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

PR B A M DA HER A T B IR ES:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT
(a) Finance costs (a) RERAE
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(c)) HEBRZME
(HtaE16(c)) 211 413
(b) Personnel cost (b) ABHEAE
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITEREMETF 113,165 183,949
Contributions to defined contribution TR FURIRET Bl 50
retirement plan 8,892 9,493
Equity settled share-based payment VARR # 45 S LARR 1 /R BB &Y
expenses (note 19) R (FfaE19) 1,012 3,417
123,069 196,859

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in defined contribution retirement schemes which
are administered and operated by the local municipal
government. The PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are
calculated on certain percentage of the average Employee
salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

AEETEHBARNEEAEZ2EAEN
BT E R 0 E R A PORREH )
BB B 2~ Bl Rz AT B RIA B E B AR
REFMERES MRFEASEDNEE
T T R B AR B #Fr e 0 8IR —
EMBEOLFE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 5 KR#HanERe
The Group also participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund REBNAMBGEREBEENERS
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in wEMAEeFE ([RESFTE) K&
Hong Kong. The Group’s and employee’s contributions to the E X & B Hoeiad st 8l 2 3Ty R IR 58 il
MPF Scheme are based on 5% of the relevant income of the MRS EIGH RABRINEK R
relevant employee (up to a cap of monthly relevant income of BEHERE 2BBEKRA (S RABEBEKRA L
HK$30,000) and in accordance with the requirements of the FR £30,00078 7T ) F15% 51 5 °
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and related
regulations.
The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of br EalFEHFN AREENJEAME A
retirement benefits associated with these schemes beyond the SN EZETEBENERENNERE
annual contributions described above. £
2022 2021
2022 20214F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
K e AR¥T T ARBTT
(c) Otheritems (c) HfzEH
Depreciation charge EMZ 10
— investment property and — WEYERYE-
property, plant and equipment &%= K& 1 7,510 8,209
— right-of-use assets — EREEE 7,219 8,065
14,729 16,274
Amortisation cost of intangible B A B R SH RN
assets 10 4,098 1,903
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN &
— assurance services — EERS 2,200 3,585
— non-assurance services — IEEFR 144 334
2,344 3,919
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NOTES TO TH

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M REME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

6 HGomlmRHEMEEKERAN
Fhig#i

(a) HeBERkEMEEMKERAND

=
and other comprehensive income represents: B A
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Current tax B EA B 1]
PRC Corporate Income Tax BT AT (iv) 79,861 246,350
Withholding tax SRR 28,000 =
Deferred tax ELEBLIE
Origination and reversal of 715 22 5B 9 SRR S B B
temporary differences (7,776) (3,627)
100,085 242,723

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Island and the BVI, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands

and the BVI.

(i) Income tax rate applicable to Group entities
incorporated in Hong Kong for the income subject
to Hong Kong Profits Tax during the years is 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of estimated assessable
profit and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

(iif)

Withholding taxes are levied on the Company’s

subsidiary in Hong Kong in respect of dividend
distributions arising from profit of PRC subsidiaries
earned after 1 January 2008 and interest on inter-
company balance received by the Hong Kong
subsidiary from PRC subsidiaries levied at 5%.

() WRERSHESLEBERRE
SR A RRO - A K EEA
RASEERABHERARES
B ERAER-

iy REBFE RAHMANTEF
BHOAEHMS REBE
ik A 32 B 5% B B B8 fih 5t B RR B
it M) B2 5 & 75 7T 128.25% K Bt
Rt HE - MB®2A S8BT
AT FERR B A H16.5% i R 5t
o

HARRBREBBHNE QA
B 8 & 7] 74200841 A1 H
1& BB 48 A EE £ BB 0 R
RBEEMBLARETEMEBEL
A ER &Y 1 =) [ 4 R B ) B AR
5% BUKRIEFN -

(iif)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B 2202212310 IFFE (UAREZIE)

6

146

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

(@)

and other comprehensive income represents:

(Continued)

(iv)

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of PRC

and the respective regulations of Hainan Free
Trade Port (the “Hainan FTP”), except for
Zhongyuan Central China (Hainan) Management
Services Limited Company (“Zhongyuan Jianye
(Hainan)”), which enjoys a preferential income tax
rate of 15% during the year, the other subsidiaries
which operate in mainland China are subject to
Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) at a statutory rate of

25%.

(b)

profit at applicable tax rates:

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

(b)

GEERZRHMEZEKERAN
FriS# &)

FeEakEMEmiaER AN
B (&)

(iv)

REFEEEAEREREE
FEEARR ([BEEERE])
RARREAR G - B R2R (8F)
EERBERAR ([HREZX
(BRI REBFEZAESR
Bt 16% SASI - 5 B A 3 4R
= EE Y B R R A $225% K
EEMEHMERAER (1
KR/ -

AR BZERRXFEN S
i F B B RR 0T -

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET AR¥ET T

Profit before taxation B 354 Bl i A 403,562 1,012,878
Notional tax on profit before taxation, B ia A A 2 & Fi 88 - =@
alculated at the rates applicable the A RDERE R & A e

jurisdictions concerned REHE 69,595 236,388

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1~ A] F154 f X (97 75 2 & 2,490 6,335

Withholding tax A 28,000 =

Income tax expense FrSiiE 100,085 242,723
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EEEHM
Directors’ emoluments are as follows: EENFMMOT
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Director’s and benefits Discretionary scheme payments 2022
fee in kind bonuses contributions (note 19) Total
AR B
I8 28R BT  EENIER 20225
2022 20225 EEHe EMEA Mgk e H®® (Ktat19) @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®Tn AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Trn AR%¥Tx
Chairmanandnon- EEREHTES
executive director
Mr. Wu Po Sum HRREE 2,545 - - - - 2,545
Executive directors ~ #{TEE
Mr. Hu Bing BRI AE - 1,108 1,500 36 - 2,644
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng* SEELLE - 2,000 898 36 = 2,934
Non-executive FHTES
director
Ms. Wu Wallis FEL+T
(alias Li Hua) 221 - - - - 221
Independent non- BUFHITES
executive directors
Mr. Zhu Baoguo RERELE 204 - - - - 204
Mr. Xu Ying rELE 204 - - - - 204
Mr. Siu Chi Hung BEHLE 204 - - - - 204
3,378 3,108 2,398 72 - 8,956
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 7 ES5HMe)
Salaries,

allowances Retirement  Share-based
Director's  and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments 2021
fee in kind bonuses  contributions (note 19) Total

WA 1D A&
IZ 2ER RINETE EREMMR 20216
2021 20214 ESHE EWaF HiEEE {3 (Kizt19) Mzt

RMB'000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTR ARETT ARRTT ARBTT ARETR

Chairmanandnon- IEREHTES
executive director
Mr. Wu Po Sum HRALE 1,420 - - - = 1,420

Executive directors ~ H{TES

Mr. Hu Bing BRIk A = 1,091 3,598 25 = 4,714
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng SEELE = 1,316 4,476 33 226 6,051
Non-executive FHTES

director
Ms. Wu Wallis FHELT

(alias Li Hua) 123 - - - = 123

Independent non- BUFHITES
executive directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo RERELE 114 = = = = 114
Mr. Xu Ying RBRRAE 14 - - - - 14
Mr. Siu Chi Hung [y ik 114 - - - - 114

1,885 2,407 8,074 58 226 12,650
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng has resigned as an executive Director and BEREEEHEIRN AR NITESREF
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 9 HITE  B2023F1 AR AN - FRE R %L
January 2023. Mr. Chen Aiguo and Mr. Duan Juwei have been A RBEREEDEZER/RARATINITE
appointed as the executive directors of the Company with £ H2023F1H9HBEM -

effect from 9 January 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

8 EEHFMAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two hEESHFMATHRRmE AL (20214 :

(2021:two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the

WE)EES HFMBEBERWE7 - 5 -
BT=%Q021F: =%) AT H ez

other three (2021:three) individuals are as follows: (NS
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Salaries and other emoluments e hEMEE 4,213 1,993
Discretionary bonuses B 585 1,578 3,898
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEI R 71 99
Share-based payments LARR 19 2 ERE B 15 50 57 629
5,919 6,619

The emoluments of these three (2021:three) individuals with

=FZ(2021F : =R) K&

B A - 0 5 B

the highest emoluments are within the following bands: BRUATEE :
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7t 21,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7t 22,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T 22,500,000/ 7T - 2
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 23,000,000/ 7T = =
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T 23,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7T 24,000,000/ 7T - 1
3 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE 9 SRKREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) EREXEF
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year HE2022F12A3MB EFEFSRE
ended 31 December 2022 is based on the profit REFMDERRNFEERR A =
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of B AL E M A R #303,477,0007T
RMB303,477,000 (2021: RMB770,155,000) and the (20214F : A R#770,155,0007T ) & B %
weighted average of 3,286,297,643 ordinary shares 178 AR A N #E 15 £43,286,297,643
(2021: 3,158,084,620 ordinary shares) in issue during % (20214F : 3,158,084,620% ) 5+ &
the year, calculated as follows: Hrhptg:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares: LA I8
2022 2021
2022 20214F
At 1 January MW1A18 3,289,706,120 1
Effect of capitalisation issue B BEITHZE - 2,967,116,119
Effect of shares issued by initial public ~ 72021F5H31 B @B & XA
offering on 31 May 2021 RBEEETRNOTE - 191,433,667
Effect of shares repurchased &t B R E (3,408,477) (465,167)

3,286,297,643 3,158,084,620

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BREFRF
There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding #H E20229F 20219128318 IEF
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. ER R EBATEIN B EEEARD o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY, 10 BREWMERME  RBENR:ZRE

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE UREREE
ASSETS
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount of property, (a) Y% RBERREEREEZIHE

plant and equipment

Properties Furniture, Leasehold
leased for Motor fixtures and improve- Investment
own use Vehicles  equipment ments property Total
BRAK & B
HEMX "E RERRE HENXEE REWX H)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR
Cost A
At 1 January 2021 202151716 21,874 5,636 5,618 9,277 - 42,405
Additions NE 2,089 547 467 9,041 - 12,144
Disposals HE (1,676) - - - - (1,676)
At 31 December 2021 2021124318 22,287 6,183 6,085 18,318 - 52,873
Additions NE 2,599 286 106 639 2,925 6,555
Disposals HE (8,961) - (82) - = (9,043)
At31December2022 =~ W22F12A3R . el Ll U L L |
Accumulated RIHE
depreciation:
At 1 January 2021 7202151718 (7,646) (2,139) (3,501) (4,777) - (18,063)
Charge for the year FEXH (8,065) (1,292) (1,135) (5,782) = (16,274)
Written back on disposals it £ [l 1,676 = = = = 1,676
At 31 December 2021 720215124310 (14,035) (3,431) (4,636) (10,559) - (32,661)
Charge for the year FEZH (7.219) (1,389) (845) (5,032) (244) (14,729)
Written back on disposals i &85 8,961 = 71 = = 9,032
AtS1December2022 = W2022F12A3A  (12299) @ (4820)  (5410)  (15%91) | L)
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 December 2022 12022512 A31H 3,632 1,649 699 3,366 2,681 12,027
At 31 December 2021 720215124310 8,252 2,752 1,449 7,759 - 20,212
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of the Group’s right-

10 IREMERVE - BERRE
UREBHEE &2

(b) EREEE

AEENEREEERBFEDN

of-use assets is as follows: W
2022 2021
2022 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF AR® T AR®TT
Properties leased for own use, Z#TE K A% B A
carried at depreciated cost HEME (i) 3,632 8,252

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

RERAERNEERREXLIER

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: SR :
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use CRAREENEER:
assets:
Properties leased for own use ERAMNEEDE 7,219 8,065
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) T E&E 2B (Ktit5(a)) 211 413
Expense relating to short-term leases %2 HAHEMEE T H 1,023 3,169

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
RMB2,599,000 (2021: RMB2,089,000). This amount
included the capitalised lease payments payable under
new tenancy agreements.
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10

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities and the future cash outflows
arising from leases that are not yet commenced are set
out in notes 16(c) and 18, respectively.

(i)  Properties leased for own use

The Group has leased a number of properties as
its office and employee dormitory through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 to 5 years. Some leases include an
option to renew the lease and all terms should be
renegotiated towards the end of the lease term.
None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

For the year en:

10 1%
L

(b)

R 5 R | P o

ded 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

REREE#)

EREEE(E)

HEMReRTEE HEEBEND
HAMARMAABCHEESE
ZARRIBE ML 2 FH1ED B
$16(c) 218 -

() EBERAWHEEYF*

AEEEEBHERAEES
TOEERRAEREEES -
NEHERBE R2E5F A
THEBRENEE 8RR T H
MAEEREMA GRREEE
ERRREF R -MEHEE
BT eErEHEENR-
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2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY, 10 IREWERYE - BERER
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE LREBREE &)
ASSETS (continued)

(c) Intangible assets (c) BEEE
Software
g4
RMB’000
AREBT T
Cost: AN
At 1 January 2021 72021F1 418 5,343
Additions NE 10,403
At31December2021 . R2021F12R31A 197
Additions NE 55
At31December2022 . R2022F12R31R LU |
Accumulated amortisation: E-Sg: §of
At 1 January 2021 7202141 A1H (4,215)
Charge for the year FEXH (1,903)
At31December2021 = . R204%12A31AR . (6118)
Charge for the year FESH (4,098)
At31December2022 . R2022%12831A (10,216)
Net book value: BREFE:
At 31 December 2022 7202212 431H 5,585
At 31 December 2021 7K2021F12431H 9,628
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particular of two
subsidiaries which principally affects the results, assets or
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary

unless otherwise stated.

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

11 RIBATINIRE

TRESIHAKERE EEXRER
TERENMENBE AR KRIESEREH
SN PRI AR S E AR -

Proportion of
ownership interest

FrE RERE = L Bl
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
= AL R =t & =R NN =] PN
NCIECE REME BREXR EeX -] BE FEXEWK
Henan Zhongyuan The PRC RMB800,000,000/ - 100% Project
Central China City RMB350,000,000 management
Development Co., Ltd. services
A R R R T i AR - 100% b E
ERARANA 800,000,0007T, R R
AR
350,000,0007T
Zhongyuan Central China The PRC RMB10,000,000/ - 100% Project
(Hainan) Management - management
Services Co., Ltd. services
mREE (fm)ER HE AR - 100% 5 EE
RSB R A A 10,000,0007T, R RS
Note: Hitat -

The above subsidiaries are PRC limited liability companies. These
official names of the entities are in Chinese. The English names are
translated by management only for the purpose of these financial
statements as no English names have been registered or available.

BB AREATEAERAR -ZERRNE
FEWRPX - RXERNEREER/MBTREK
M#E ZERX LWL AREMAEA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

12

156

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

The following list contains an associate of the Group, which is
an unlisted corporate entity, whose quoted market price is not

available:

12 A—REBE QA EIRRERS

TREEAEEN—EBEQR (R/RIFL
MEXRER) HABMELTAIRE:

Effective interest

held by the Group

rEERBFENERER
Date and
place of Registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Principal
Name of company establishment capital As at 31 December activities
AL R
ARER B HA T it B BEEXR M12831H FEEHR
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Biyang Jianheng Real 12 September RMB20,000,000/ 20% 20% Property
Estate Development 2019 RMB20,000,000 development
Co., Ltd The PRC
WEGEEREMERE  2019F9°12H AR 20% 20% EihE
BRA A H 20,000,0007T,” EE
AR
20,000,0007T
Note: K&t
The entity is a PRC limited liability company. The official name of the %Z? BA—HTPEERAR -ZERBRESTELHEA

entity is in Chinese. The English name is for identification purpose

only.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M REME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 12 RA—HEEEQTNERS &)
The associate mentioned above is accounted for using the Xt e B E R R E AR ER A B
equity method in the consolidated financial statements. e N
The information of the associate is as below: B RNRIMESWT
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBTT

Carrying amount of the associate in the B2 A A RGEEMBHRERN
consolidated financial statements BREE 2,230 2,501

Amounts of the Group’s share of the AEEELHEARNUTIER

associate’s K5

Loss from continuing operations RELEXBER 271 509

Other comprehensive income Hiz2mEmkes - =

Total comprehensive loss ZHEBIEBTE 271 509

13 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 13 HinemEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR®T ARBTTT

Investment in unlisted securities REMEHHIE (i) 4,894 8,076

Note: B &t -

()  The Group’s investment in unlisted securities represented an (i) AEBRRETEHFMBRERRN —HL
investment in a private equity fund. The Group designated the EREESHRE -KAEEBZAR LTHE
unlisted securities at FVOCI (non-recycling), as it does not FERERARTFEFEEEEHT AR
intend to dispose of this investment in the foreseeable future. fofr e s (FaEE) AAAREER

ARARRTREEZRE -
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14

158

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(a) Contract assets

14 ANEERSHER

(a)

EREE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETE

Contract assets EHEE

Project management service 5 b 2 AR TS

425,028 300,500

All of contract assets are expected to be recovered
within one year.

(b) Contract liabilities

(b)

BB ANEEREIFAKE -

BREE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Contract liabilities BHEE
Project management service B ERERE
— Billings in advance of performance ~ — TE UK /B XIBR X

291,968 393,249
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14 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities

R 5 R | P o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

(b)

B E2022F12H31H 1L F/Z (AANREZ(E)

14 EHEEREHEE®

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREET T
At 1 January M1A1H 393,249 474,949
Decrease in contract liabilities as a BREVFAGHNEEDN
result of recognising revenue during FRAWABBNENEE
the year that was included in the Ve
contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year (273,783) (442,898)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result EIZATE EFENREEE
of billing in advance of project RGEREEHNENEE
management service I e RE 172,502 361,198
At 31 December W12H31H 291,968 393,249

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of billings in
advance of performance and advance payments
received expected to be recognised as income after
more than one year is RMB153,852,000 (2021:
RMB99,236,000). All of the other contract liabilities are
expected to be recognised as income within one year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15 ESZREMEWRFRIE
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M aE AR® T ARETFIT
Trade debtors and bills receivable & 5 & Wz 18 & JiE W 22 1% 194,160 219,932
Less: allowance for credit losses & : {Z & B & (38,756) (21,659)

Trade debtors and bills receivable, & 5 & I 3118 & fE W Z %

net of loss allowance (MREEREE) (a) 155,404 198,273
Amounts due from related parties & Uz BAE 5 7B 24(c) 30,761 27,510
Other debtors H A e W FRIE (b) 466,540 337,758
Financial assets measured at REBHEA AT ENEREE
e U B 563541
Deposits and prepayments e RIBAHIA 8,416 4,609

661,121 568,150
Amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free FEW AR F R E AEIKE 2B HEIRE
and repayable on demand, the details of which are set out in KB - EFIEEH M iE24(c) °
note 24(c).
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be BAREE S NEMERTEEE —FEA
recovered or recognised as expense within one year or on W R ER AR HIRERKEE -
demand.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15 B 5 R H it EURTE (&)
(Continued)
(a) Ageing analysis (a) HERERDHT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis HERSFHR REZZAH LMK
of trade debtors and bills receivable, based on the EiEEER BESEUFTEREKRE
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: BZEREDTIOT
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Within 3 months 3fE AR 94,025 126,499
3 months to 6 months 31& A =61E A 28,438 27,292
6 months to 1 year 618 A &14F 16,324 36,574
over 1 year HBiB1F 16,617 7,908
155,404 198,273
Trade debtors and bills receivable are due when the B REWRIEREREBENERIE
receivables are recognised. Further details on the WRIBR BB - EEA K EEERE
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade RESGREKWFEREVEBREEL
debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 22(a). BEERRE-—THFBEHNH T
22(a) °
(b) Other debtors (b) HbEWRE
As at 31 December 2022, other debtors mainly represented 72022512 A318 + A b FEUGRIE £
advances to third parties of RMB428,530,000 (2021: BRE =7 B AR K428,530,000
RMB319,147,000) which are interest bearing at 14% 7t (20214 : 319,147,0007T) * A B
(2021: 15%) per annum, unsecured and expected to be IR FEF E14% (20214F : 15% ) &+
recovered within one year. B\ RIEHN —FAYRE -
16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 16 EQ&EQ%E%&EMEQ%
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EEAR
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) RERASEEYERE :
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Cash and cash equivalents in the mEMBIRRAKR REEEE®
consolidated statement of financial RERPNRERREE
position and in the consolidated cash B
flow statement 1,564,617 1,975,806
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

162

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

generated from operations:

16 RERBAEFEVREMBELR

EEBR#®)
(b) BBARANESLSIHELE>RS

28k

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt ARMT AREET T
Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation B 3¢ B g A 403,562 1,012,878
Adjustments for: P EE
Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 2 ## §4 5(c) 18,827 18,177
Interest income FEUWA 4 (25,085) (33,043)
Equity settled share-based VARR # 45 B LARR 10 A E B Y
payment expenses RRRBZ 5(b) 1,012 3,417
Share of loss of an associate ~ JE{5 —FEH & A R E 18 12 271 509
Finance costs A& Ak AR 5(a) 211 413
Changes in working capital: BEESE
Increase in contract assets BHREERM (124,528) (62,351)
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 R H thfE W RIBR L
and other receivables (1) 17,515 (76,526)
(Decrease)/increase in trade B 5 M E M /I8
and other payables CmA) /5 (4,558) 6,712
Decrease in contract liabilites & #& &R 4 (101,281) (81,700)
Cash generated from BEFFRE
operations 185,946 788,486
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) REITBHELEZEBZHE

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A

TRAMINLTREEHELEZR
SEAE 2P (BRASRIFRS
2y) MEAPELZABRER
ReREERARKRREREH/N
AEBZRAEREXRFPOERRE
AYELECRERECRE



16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 48 R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

16 RERBAEFEVREMBLR

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EEE®
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c)

activities (Continued)

BMETHEE2RBEIHR(E)

Lease
liabilities
HESE
RMB’000
ARBTT
At1January2021  R221%®1B18 e
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREEENES:
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERENELRIT D (8,368)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEREHNFEIT D (413)
Total changes from financing cashflows == BEREAEE®E®E (8,781).
Other Changes: Hih# 5
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into RERNFTZHMHEEMEEMNEESE
new leases during the year 0 2,089
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) FIEF (HfaE5(a)) 413
Totalotherchanges ... ... AtE®esm 2,502
At31 Decomber 2021 and 1 January 2022 M2021F128MBB2022%1818 6073
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREEENES:
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERENELRT S (5,574)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEREHNFEIT D (211)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERCREZHRE (5,785)
Other Changes: Hih& g
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into RERNFTZHHEEMEEMNHEESE
new leases during the year 0 2,599
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) MBEFRZ (Hfits5a)) 211
Totalotherchanges =~~~ Zt@#ses 2,810
At 31 December 2022 A2022F12A31H 3,098
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

16

17

164

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases
comprise the following:

16 RERRSFEYREMRALSR
EE8®)

(d) HENBESREARE

HREEFARSRERNSRRAT :

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Within operating cash flows REERSHMEAN 1,678 4,901
Within financing cash flows REEREREA 5,785 8,781
7,463 13,682

These amounts relate to the following: ZESEHENTIHEEAR:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBTTT
Lease rentals paid ENEERS 7,463 13,682

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

17 EZREMEMNIA

2022 2021

20224 20214

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Ktat ARET T ARET T

Amounts due to related parties JE 1< BEBS 75 5RIR 24(c) 35,658 38,856
Other creditors and accrued Bt B R ERTE A

charges 80,543 89,402

116,201 128,258

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free
and payable on demand, the details of which are set out in
note 24(c).

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year or on demand.

CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A
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18 LEASE LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M REME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group’s lease liabilities:

18 HEAE

TRINTAEEHRERBEHRRA D

R

31 December 2022
2022%F12A31H

31 December 2021
20214128318

Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHEE BEHEE HEEE ®EHE
HRBEE B CEC NRIRE T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% TR AR%T T ARETT ARBTT
Within 1 year 1F AN 2,462 2,532 4,464 4,641
After 1 year but within 1EEBR2FER
2 years 636 653 1,609 1,628
e 636 ... 653 ] 1,609 1,628
3,098 3,185 6,073 6,269
Less: total future interest 3 : 7 2 Al B 5 %
expenses RS (87) (196)
Present value of lease HEBERE
liabilities 3,098 6,073
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTION

(@) Share options scheme

(i)  Share options granted on 12 June 2018

On 12 June 2018, CCRE conditionally granted

3,000,000 share options to

Group’s key

management, for services provided to the Group.
The exercise price is HK$4.296 per share. The
share option scheme was effective from 12 June
2018. Under the share option schemes, no share
option is vested within first year from the date of
grant. 20% of the share options are vested within
the second year from the date of grant and 40% of
the share options are vested in each of the third
and fourth year from the date of grant. Each option
gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share of CCRE. All the options granted will
be exercisable within 10 years after grant date.

The fair value of services received in return for

share options granted is measured
the fair value of share options
estimate of the fair value of the

by reference to
granted. The
share options

granted is measured based on a binomial lattice
model. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model. Expectations of
early exercise are incorporated into the binomial

lattice model.

Fair value of share options and assumption

Fair value at measurement date
Share price

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Option life

Expected dividends

Risk-free interest rate

166 CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED

HK$1.566
HK$4.290
HK$4.296
45%

10 years
3%
2.92%

TREXERAT

19 URBZEFENROZARS

(a)

BARRESTE
(i) H201846 512 AEH ZHER
i

2018568128 B ¥ MEHR
FBHERAEEETEEEASR
fig 14 5% £3,000,00017 BE B 4 -
LA 52 B [m) 2N 55 B 4 i A AR 75 o
R 1T (B B4.29678 TT °
BERRAERT 2170 20184E6 A 128 #E
F e AR - IR IR RR AT &1 - B
Bt B =R B ER1F RN ET
F-REHBHEF _FRA
1T1E20% M) B B 4 R 1% 1 H
HEF-FLRFENFRNETFEA
111E40% 517 18 IR B T 5
EARB—BREEHELBER
MR- R L ERES
AR HEE +F R T AT
ff o

PR DA R BR 9% 1 8 P T 2R AR 7%
BRFEL2EMRELERE
ZRFEFE-FAEHBRE
MR EM[ETIIER A
ERAUTE-BRESOFH
U RA R AER—RE AR
BoRATEMNEHC A AL
ZIRABEAER

BIREZ N FERRE

REtE HHZ A F(E 1.566/8 7T

R ER 4.290/%5 7T
TEER 4.29675 7T
TE B R 08 45%
FE R e R 104F
TEHRPR B & 3%
7 R R ) = 2.92%



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 48 R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 19 DRESEFNROEXIAXRS @)
TRANSACTION (continued)
(a) Share options scheme (Continued) (a) EBEMRRESTEI(E)

(i) The number and the weighted average exercise (i) BEHERHERENEER
price of share options granted by CCRE are as IEFGITEENT :
follows:

2022 2021
20225 20214

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
¥ BRE ¥ 19 BiE
fTiEE BE 176 fE gE

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Outstanding at 1 January ~ F#M A1 #KITE 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000

Granted during the year RAEFERN = = -
Exercised during the year ~ RAFEE{TE - = =
Lapsed during the year RAFERM - = =

Outstanding at 31 December 7128318 & R17{# 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000
Exercisable at 31 December 7M2A318 A T LA77{# 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000
The options outstanding at 31 December 2022 had 20224128318 ﬂfﬁ f E}]
a weighted average exercise price of HK$4.30 R Hﬁg 73\ I 1517 ﬁf {gj%
(2021: HK$4.30) and a weighted average 4.307% 7t (20214 : 4.307% 7T )
remaining contractual life of 5.45 years (2021: 6.45 BT TR E K FIRR5.45
years). F (20214F : 6.45%F ) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTION (continued)

168

(b)

Share award scheme

On 21 December 2020, CCRE, the then parent company
of the Group, announced the share award scheme to
grant restricted shares to its employees, which was
subject to such employees’ acceptance. The share
award scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
10 years.

During January and February 2021, 30 employees of the
Group accepted the share award and subscribed an
aggregate of 21,300,000 restricted shares at total
consideration of HK$61,054,500. The restricted shares
are subject to service and performance vesting
conditions, with 20% of the granted shares vested every
year on and after the first anniversary of the grant date
during the next five years.

Movements in the number of outstanding share award
scheme are as follows:

19 URESGEFNRGBZARS @)

(b)

IR 40 SE Bt &l

MR2020%F128218 "EBEE RN
RREEMEABRMNEBE M
HEERTRAUERKRE UZERE
BX AR KK EEE 8 KB BT H
BtEo

R2021F18 k28 AEE 8305 &
BEXTROREH TREES K
21,300,0000% R il 14 J2 2 - ¥ (B 4858
7461,054,500/% 7T © PR il 1% A% = 78 LA
ARG FRI[ B 5B IKMHF - EFP20% &
FHRRMDEAREFANEBRTAD
FRBFREBETFHESB-

W ARITERD RE TS8R 228
LIE

2022 2021

202245 20214

Number of Number of

restricted restricted

share units share units

PR 1 1% PR i 1

=358 IRZE D8

At 1 January M1A18 20,700,000 =
Granted during the year NEZNESEE = 21,300,000
Vested and transferred during the year A AEECREMDEE (4,140,000) =
Lapsed and cancelled during the year RN F R BANEBUH (5,760,000) (600,000)
At 31 December M®12A31H 10,800,000 20,700,000

CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 48 R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 HZEBMBRRRPIIFTEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) FEMBMRRPZEHBRIERE -
financial position represents:

Total

#st

RMB’000

ARBTTT

At 1 January 2021 7R2021F1 51H 66,473
Charged to profit or loss (note 6(a)) BEENH (ffiF6@)) 246,350
Tax paid BAHIE (265,001)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 7202112 A31H &2022%181H 47,822
Charged to profit or loss (note 6(a)) BB Ak (f75t6(a)) 107,861
Tax paid B HE (51,449)
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 104,234

2022 2021

2022F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT

Representing: 2W|ER:

Current taxation BN EA R 18 104,234 47,822
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 FEMBRRKRPOAFH @)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets (b) EEBHIEBEE
(i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax (i) EBEEBEAEEELNEZE
assets
The components of deferred tax assets recognised RIERIBE ENGRE MBARR
in the consolidated statement of financial position KNER EBRKRERE
and the movements during the year are as follows: AT
Credit loss
allowance
FEEERE
RMB’000
ARBTTT
At 1 January 2021 72021F1 518 6,531
Credited to profit or loss (note 6(a)) FFAER (AYit6(a)) 3,627
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 7202112 A318 &2022F1A1H 10,158
Credited to profit or loss (note 6(a)) st AER (AYit6(a)) 7,776
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 17,934
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) HEMBHR IR ZEER
financial position
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT
Representing: 2W|EAR:
Deferred tax assets BRI EE 17,934 10,158

170 CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A



20

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

20 GEMBIRRRPEORENR @)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

As at 31 December 2022, taxable temporary differences
relating to undistributed profits of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,210,168,000 (2021:
RMB1,450,319,000). No deferred tax liability was
recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these retained profits as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has determined that it is probable that
these will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

(@) Share Capital

(c) AEIWELEHERRE :

M2022412 8318 B AR A H
B8 & Bl R 7 K 5 ) O FE ER B0 ET B
ZE A AR1,210,168,0007T (2021
F: AR #1,450,319,0007T ) © I £
MEDIKZERE R AT
HERRELHEEE AALXAF
RHZENBRRMKEBR AR
RAIEARE RARKRKREAGETE

DIEZZ R o
21 BEX - RFERRKRE
(a) M=

As at 31 December

M12A31H8
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEE K- ] B EE -
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised share capital EER A

(Note (i) (BtaE(@)) 10,000,000,000 100,000,000 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 21 BAX - RERKRE @
(Continued)
(a) Share Capital (Continued) (a) BA&(E)

As at 31 December

MM2A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
MR #E k2| RanE- 4= E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBEFIT
Ordinary shares, issued EER CEITR
and fully paid: B

At 1 January M1A18 3,295,288,120 27,035 1 —*

Capitalisation issue BT - - 2967,116,119 24,343

Issuance of shares by initial BB E X ARHEE

public offering BTN - - 328,172,000 2,692

Share repurchased and B E &R D

cancelled (Note (ii)) (K7 aE i) (5,582,000) (45) = =

At 31 December M12A31R 3,289,706,120 26,990 3,295,288,120 27,035

* The balances represent amounts less than RMB1,000. * EHRIBERARE1,000TH 258 -

Notes: &t -

(i)  The Company was incorporated on 22 October 2020 in (iy ARAFN2020F108228 EH 2B
the Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with SR A EEREERAR
limited liability. Upon incorporation, the Company’s ML ARABIEEREN B
authorised share capital was HK$380,000 divided into 380,000/ 7t ' % £38,000,000% &
38,000,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each, of AR E E0.0178 T M AR 10 - H 1R AR
which 1 share was issued and allotted, credited as fully DERIT R ARYIES K
paid. ne
On 12 May 2021, the authorised share capital of the 72021658128 N2 AIHEE KR
Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into 7x #1380,0007% 7t (% 438,000,000
38,000,000 shares to HK$100,000,000 divided into A% B% 17 ) $% N 2£100,000,0007% 7T
10,000,000,000 shares. (% %10,000,000,0008% f% 15 ) °
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)
(a) Share Capital (Continued) (a) B
Notes: (Continued) Kzt -

(b)

(ii)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 R | P o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

In 2021, the Company repurchased its own ordinary (i)
shares of 5,582,000, with an aggregate consideration

paid amounting to approximately HK$8,605,000

(equivalent to RMB6,950,000). All of these shares were

cancelled in March 2022.

Dividends (b) BE

(i)

Dividend payable to equity shareholders of the (i)
Company attributable to the year

21 EX - RERKRE®)

=
(A5 /

(%)

20214 AR RIERHE A 5 L@
P%5,582,0008% B TR BELH A
8,605,000/ ¢ (IHE N AR
6,950,0007T) - FTAZERMHE R
2022F3 A 74K -

FEEL XL AIEEFEAR
T HIR S

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETE

Interim dividend declared and paid of &3R5 & %% 3t 37 1~ & 7 27

HK$5.81 cents (equivalent to i 8508 @ AR5.8178(L
RMB5.37 cents) per ordinary (HHERARKE5.375)
share (2021: HK$8.6 cents) (20214F : 8.658 1)

Final dividend in respect of the AEEEHAERIE
previous financial year, approved EFRER B @AR
and paid during the year, of 9.9/l (HENRARE
HK$9.9 cents (equivalent to 8.01%) (2021 : F4)

RMB8.01 cents) per ordinary
share (2021: Nil)

176,659 235,813

263,541 -

A final dividend of HK$2.70 cents per ordinary
share for the year ended 31 December 2022 has
been proposed by the Board. The final dividend
proposed after the end of the reporting period has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

E=eC0 2R REET2022F
12A31A L FENRBEEE
P 3 AR 2. 7078 {1l - R E A A
REHEZRPRERERR
BEMRNEE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

21

174

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)  Other capital reserve
The other capital reserve comprises the following:

— In 2017, 2018 and 2021, share options and
restricted shares were granted to certain key
management of the Group by CCRE, which
then indirectly held 100% equity interest of
the Group. The Group recognised a total
expense and a corresponding capital reserve
of RMB1,012,000 during the year (2021:
RMB3,417,000); and

— Deemed contribution from the parent
company prior to the Company’s initial public
offering in relation to: (i) certain assets and
liabilities historically associated with the the
project management business of the Group
but were retained by the parent company;
and (ii) certain assets and liabilities
historically associated with the the real estate
development and investment business but
were retained by the Group.

(ii) PRC statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are required to transfer
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of their registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A

21 BX - RERERE®

(c)

RENEERE®N

(i)

(ii)

Htt B #E
HtpEAFEBEEATEA:

— 20174 - 20184 2021
FREMERTASEEZ
ETTEEEASBIE
KBRS - 5 T 22
¥WERESELASEXN
100% AR #E - F N REE
BRAXAEREREER
& AR ¥®1,012,0007T
(20215 : A R &
3,417,0007T) : &

— RARRBFERAFRBEER
WRAEKRET QAWM
B AR () BEEARE
EEMEREEKERAA
HEARREBENETEE
REfE: R(i)BELFEE
i S B 3% I IR B ¥ RS AR RS
BRAEERENETE
EkafE-

oh % E fok 1

BIEFE (RRE) AEE/
FENBRARAREFEHE:
AR EASH10% BT A
B EREE A TAKEE B
ERRBEEHEREFMES
K9150% & LF °

BREZHEBBEERBRRIES
ZATHETT °



NOTES TO TH

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

PRC statutory reserve (Continueqd)

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make up
previous years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into share capital by the issue of new
shares to shareholders in proportion to their
existing shareholdings or by increasing the par
value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

Treasury shares

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company repurchased its own ordinary shares of
7,044,000 on the Stock Exchange, with an
aggregate consideration paid amounting to
approximately HK$7,174,000 (equivalent to
RMB6,408,000). As at 31 December 2022, the
ordinary shares were repurchased but not yet
cancelled by the Company and were recorded in
“Treasury shares” in the Company’s reserves at the
purchase consideration.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(u).

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9
that are held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 1(f)(i)).

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 48 R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

21 EX - RERKRE®)

(43 )
("= /

(c) REHMEERBEN

(i) HEEERE(E)
EERBETRIERBATSF
ERER(WME) TAEBREK
MR SR IR A MR LE B A 1 B T
ARG IR E R AR
) B T (B 88 4R K AR S - 1 31T
BHRERTIRAMELRD
25% °

(i) EFR G

H 22022F 128318 L F & -
RARRE R REAR S T
FAL7,044,0000% B ARE
49 A7,174,000% 7T (& R A
R #6,408,0007T ) ° 720224
12A318 AR B M A E B
ERZELERTHE WIRE
BRERARREERY A E
TR -

(iv) ERZ#E

X HEERRERIINEBN
MBEBRMEENMBELE
B %S RBRBI () PTEk
Mg At R BRI

(v) X FERFE (FoEE)
AFERE (CTAEE)B2ER
WMERRSBENRBREABNB
WMEERFIRIETAIEAFE
FFAEMEEREHRAKRE
WAFEZRFFEE (BT
1()(i)) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 21 BX - RERERE®

(Continued)

(d) Movements in components of equity (d) REZEBRIEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBIRE B SHENE D R E )
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated NEAREHHHEREHE NGRS
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of X -ARNAERK S M B A
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the EERNE=BREDFEHI W
Company’s individual components of equity between the ™~

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Fair value Retained
Other reserve profits/
Share Share  Treasury capital  Exchange (non-  (Accumulated
capital  premium shares reserve reserve  recycling) losses) Total
RftEA AVERE  REER/
The Company AR08 kx  BAEE  EERG fif EXRE (FUEE) (ZiHER) it

Mo RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOD ~ RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO
Wi  ARETT ARBTL ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARMTR  ARETI ARETR

Balance at 31 December 2020 120205128310 R

and 1 January 2021 W21F1A1B R = - - 487,819 6 - (578) 487,247
Changes in equity for 2021 ANEEREY
Loss for the year FRER - - . - . . (1398  (13959)
Other comprehensive income for ~ FE £t 2 A%

the year - - - - (25,955) - - (25,955)
Total comprehensive income for ~ FE2EUHLE

the year - - - - (5%) - (13983 (39908)
Capitalisation issue ARcER 143 (4343 - - - - - -
Issuance of shares by initial public  BEENAFEE

offeing E1RH 260 TI88Y1 - - - - - 8153
Purchase of own shares BERSRH - - (6,950) - - - S (6,950)
Dividend declared in respect ofthe K2R REY

current year e - (2581 - - - - - (2381
Balance at 31 December 2021 H2021%12A318 &

and 1 January 2022 AR NER 05 SI8ETS (6950 4T9  (5949) - (14531) 986,009
Changes in equity for 2022 ANFERLE
Proft for the year FRET - - - - - - 470,764 470,764
Other comprehensive income for ~ FEE 2 EUZ

the year - - - - (38 - 104605
Total comprehensive income for £ 2ENEEE

the year - - - - (M8)  4%0764 575369
Cancellation of repurchased HHEBERG

shares (45) (6,905) 6,950 - - - - -
Purchase of own shares BEAZRN - - (6,408) - - - - (6,408)
Dividends approved nrespectof ~ SEFFE RS

the previous year - (263,541) - - - - - (263,541)
Dividend declared in respect of the ZWF ERFRER

current year - - - - - - (176,659)  (176,659)
Balance at 31 December 2022 M2022E12A31AHER 26,990 248,229 (6,408) 487,819 81,838 (3,182) 219,574 1,114,860
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so it can continue to provide returns for
equity shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

The results of the directors’ review of the Group’s capital
structure are used as a basis for the determination of the
level of dividends, if any, that are declared. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged and was not subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B E2022F12H31H 1L F/Z (AANREZ(E)
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiEMEERSRMTAEATHE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

178

The Group is not exposed to any significant currency risk or
interest rate risk. Exposure to credit and liquidity risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and
contract assets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with sound credit rating for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the statement of
financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. There is no significant concentration of credit
risk within the Group.

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets

There is no significant concentration of credit risk
within the Group. The trade receivables are due
upon the date of the billing. The Group measures
loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets, including bills receivable and trade-related
amount due from related parties, at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

22 EEAMEERSMIAATE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) FERRE)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets () EBZEUFERESHEEE)
(Continueqd)
The following table provides information about the TREREEREERE HE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade WHRIE (BIEEKEREREK
receivables, including bills receivable and trade BT R E SR RIE) A X
related amount due from related parties: EERRKEREEEENE
¥}
2022
20224
Gross Expected
Expected carrying credit loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHA BHEE
EiE= HBERMEE EERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETxR
Within 3 months 3EAA 5.3% 100,087 5,260
3 months to 6 months 31E A =61E A 10.8% 31,871 3,433
6 months to 1 year 61 A =14 31.6% 24,695 7,795
Over 1 year HBIB1F 57.5% 39,075 22,458
195,728 38,946
2021
20214
Gross Expected
Expected carrying credit loss
loss rate amount allowance
T8 HA BHEE
EEx BEREE B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR%®TT
Within 3 months 3EAR 3.4% 130,898 4,399
3 months to 6 months 3fE A =61 A 7.2% 29,410 2,118
6 months to 1 year 6fE A =14 21.7% 46,682 10,108
Over 1 year HE1E 38.9% 12,942 5,034
219,932 21,659
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
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22 BEEMEENSMIAATE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@) FERKEE)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets () EBZEUFERSHEEE)
(Continued)
The following table provides information about the TREREEXREERESNE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for ENEERREEHEEESE
contract assets: B E R}
2022 2021
20225 20216
Gross  Expected Gross  Expected
Expected  carrying creditloss  Expected carrying  credit loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
B RAEE T BHEE
BEX AKREE HFEAR BRZX AREE BEEG
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARBTR
Contract assets BREE 6.6% 455243 30,215 57% 318,549 18,049

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.
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NOTES TO TH

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiXEMREERSRTEATHE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

(i)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of trade receivables and contract assets during the
year is as follows:

(%)
(@) EEREE)
() EBEZEUFERSHEEE)

FARESREFRARANE
ERBENBREERZSMNT -

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Atldanvary L PWAIR 39,708 25,173

Impairment losses recognised FRRERRNRESE

during the year 29,453 14,535
At 31 December MW12H31H 69,161 39,708

Credit risk arising from other receivables

In respect of other receivables, the Group monitors
the exposures and manages them based on
historical settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

At each reporting date, the Group measures the
expected credit losses of other debtors in following
ways:

(i) FEEMERIENEERRE
HEMEBURFEmNS A5EH
RIBFEL SEE RS BT
B AR K R R B R R Y
TERIE R REE A ERRE -

REREEH AEEZE TS
AR EREMEBHNERER
JEi1g
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiEMEERSRMTAEATHE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) FERKEE)
(i)  Credit risk arising from other receivables (i) REERMEKSENEERERE
(Continued) (#&)
If, at the reporting date, the credit risk on other ERHRE B H bW FIE
receivables has not increased significantly since 815 B Rz 8 ¥ 18 1 58 DA SR
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss AAR EF - BIAEBIZESE
allowance for other receivables at an amount equal R12EAMBHEEEENS
to 12-month expected credit loss. The Group Bt H MR RIERN BB
measures the loss allowance for other receivables H-BEEMEWRRENEER
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit % B VR FERARAE LB
loss if the credit risk on other receivables has RELEREEE IXEEIR
increased significantly since initial recognition and HER2HEREEEENS
no impairment loss has occurred. The Group HtE M RN BB R
measures the loss allowance for other receivables H-EBVRBERIARE FEE
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit BERE B ASEZESER
loss if impairment losses has occurred since initial 2HEREEBENSEME
recognition. o fh U R IE B S R B o
The following table provides information about the TREREEAEENEER
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other B Iz E b B R IE (B 45 FE R
receivables, including non-trade related amount BN T MIEE SRR R TE
due from related parties: HEEEBENER:
2022 2021
2022F 201F
Gross  Expected Gross  Expected
Expected  carrying creditloss  Expected carrying  credit loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
A RAHEE TEH HEEE
FEEX LKHE FERE BEXx RBERE BERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR%TR ARETT ARBTR
For other receivables that ~ §iiE B R 5114
the credit risk has not TR AR & X
increased significantly RBLARHAME
since initial recognition WHEm R 1.8% 504,998 9,075 0.5% 367,163 1,895

182

CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B E2022F12H31H 1L F/Z (AANREZ(E)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiXEMREERSRTEATHE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk arising from other receivables
(Continueqd)

Expected loss rates are based on historical loss
experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view
of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of other receivables during the year is as follows:

(%)

(a)

fEEmbB

(i) RERMERSANEERR

(/En\

BHEBERIREE L BIEL
BEH - RFHLEREBAE A
F bR FEE S i Uk &= AT B 1 R
AR~ B AR T B R £ [ Bt e
Yo 3R TE TR B 4 HE A O OB IR O
MBEEZEHZER -

FREEMEYRRAEERENE
BRERESMT

2022 2021
2022 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREET T
Atldanuary O RVAIR 1895 . 948
Impairment losses recognised FANERIREER
during the year 7,180 947
At 31 December M12A31H 9,075 1,895
Liquidity risk (b) RENEREFE
Individual operating entities within the Group are AEEANECEEEERER $
responsible for their own cash management, including FHNRTER BREESABHNESH

the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

&E&%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%
ERCEZERBBRE T HBAME
ENERKFEARSARESS
#fE - AEBHBR R E HEER
BB REEBERZNETER
REERRANIR G MBERA
“ﬁﬁﬁ %Mﬁéixéﬂ&%
BRRAREREE  UEMNEH
&E%m@éﬁﬁi
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22

184

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

BEEBRERREMITAQFE

(%)

(b) REEREER ()

The following tables show the remaining contractual TRINTAEEETESRBER
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the MEMRNFRE VBB ETD
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are EREFHARMREERERLE
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the EAEZTHRFAEEH-
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
As at 31 December 2022
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
R20225 12N BETHRERTERE
More than ~ More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or on less than lessthan ~ More than amount at
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
-k —F# MmER M2A318
REX BRER BRER nER @zt ZEHE

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARETR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBTR ARBTR AR%T:R

Trade and other payables BoREMENTIE 116,201 - - - 116,201 116,201
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,532 653 - - 3,185 3,098
118,733 653 - - 119,386 119,299
As at 31 December 2021
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
RN F12ANBEANARRR 2R E
More than More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 yearoron less than less than More than amount at
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
—FR% —F% REXS RM2A318
REX ERERN BRER Gk b LEREE

RMB000  RMBI000
AREBTL ARETR

RMB000 ~ RMBO000  RMBO0O  RMBI000
AREBTL ARETL ARETR ARETR

Trade and other payables B REMENTE 128,258 = = = 128,258 128,258
Lease liabilities RERE 4,641 1,628 - - 6,269 6,073
132,899 1628 = = 134527 134,331
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiXEMREERSRTEATHE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end
of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date;

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available;

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

(&

n=2

AV ENE

(i) BAFEAEBZZHEERA

&

TREJRBEEEVHRELE

AIF13R A FEFE RBE
HRAEHAEAEESHITA
MAFESR=EBR -RE

fHE TP E R AER

&R

BRNEEEMELRUATIR:

FE—REE:UNE-—RBAE
ARENAYTE BUARREE
FBEERGFEREERTST

HARARRETE

FE_REBEAE LB AE
AENAFE NEABRSG
ANEXREFAE—BRBAES
o RAREREANABEE
AB-TAIERHNEAELL
EMSHEAIERENBAE:

F=RHEEERERTA#H

R ABFERQTE-
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2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

22 BEEMEENSMIAATE

(%)

(c) ATENEE

(i) BAFETEBZEZHEERA

=&

NFEFR ()
Fair value measurements

as at 31 December 2022 categorised into

AVEFEN20225E128318 284

Fair value at

31 December

2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R2022F
12A31H
ZAVE £-% FZR E=H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥Tr AR%TRT AR%T:R

Recurring fair value REMATHETE
measurements
Other financial assets: Ate@EE:

— Investment in unlisted securites — & FHEFHIRE

4,894 - 4,894 -

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2021 categorised into
ATFEFEN2021F12A31B 58 A

Fair value at
31 December
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
12022F
12A31H
ZRYE £ E-H B/

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTT ARETRE ARETE ARET:R

Recurring fair value REEQNLETE
measurements
Other financial assets: AteHAE:

— Investment in unlisted securities — &k F T EHHIRE

8,076 = 8,076 =
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 BiEMEERSRMTAEATHE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

Principal and returns of Investment in unlisted
securities are not guaranteed. The Group invested
in investment funds which holds a combination of
term deposits, securities and futures. Fair value of
Level 2 investment funds were recognized based
on the periodic reports from investment funds.

23 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022 and
2021 not provided for in the financial statements were as

(%)

(c) ATENEE

(i)

23 RiE

BAFENBZEHMEERR

=&

N FEFR(E)

H Z=2022F 128318 L F & -
BB — & 7 M e
MEEANERE =R KNS
ERNBRERNEREBNEMS
HIEREEREEAERAF
BBz HHNER -

RERFLMESFZAE RE
B ERE - A EBRENSF

EEHER B kHigda
MREES - F_MKREES

MAFENREREESHNTE
HA SR & P AERR -

38 A B 7S TR R N R 5T 3R 2 1R20224F &
2021512 A31H RBITE AR AEN T

follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Contracted for 23] 4) 3,075 3,253
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties

Name of party
S A

24 EXKEEAERS

BARE T BB R EREER

Relationship with the Group
B AR BRI R

Central China Real Estate Limited (‘CCRE”)
EEMEMK AR A A (together with its subsidiaries,
“CCRE Group”)

BEMEROGBRAR ([EEME]) (F
sl [ REHmESR])

SEEMBELT

Central China New Life Limited (“Central China New Life”)
EEHASEAR R D A (together with its subsidiaries,
“Central China New Life Group”)

BEFEEERAR ([BEFEE]) (F
i EERERER])

RIEE AR

Biyang Jianheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(“Biyang Jianheng”) 3AF% 23216 S b ZE FI 25 B IR A 7
WEGREEEHEREARAR (DUEBEE])

Zhoukou Lvcheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Zhoukou Lvcheng”)
A& E M EREFR AR
FEO&BEMEREERAR ([FHAR])

Xiangcheng Zhiteng Urban Construction Co., Ltd.
(“Xiangcheng Zhiteng”)
EWERMTERER QA

ERERBTERARAR ([EHER])

Shengqiu Forest Peninsula Real Estate Co., Ltd.
(“Shengiu Forest Peninsula”)
AEBRMREEEXERAR

TMEGHAMEEEXEERAR (DLERMES])

Linzhou Zhongji Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(“Linzhou Zhongji”) #hJH B 1 EFA B B R A A
MINBHREHERZEBR AR ([HRMNER])

Shangqiu Hesheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Shanggiu Hesheng”)

BLAaREXARANA
BEAREXARAR (HEAK])

Luoyang Guotai Meijule Real Estate Co., Ltd.
(“Luoyang Guotai Meijule”)
BGEREEEEXBRAA

BEEREELEXBRAT (BRGERERFE])

Company controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder, Mr. Wu Po
Sum

B AR RR AR SR BA IR AR S AR 1 1 2
NE]

Company controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder, Mr. Wu Po
Sum

B AP RR AR SR BA IR AR S AR 1l 2
NE]

An associate of the Group

REB S QA

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEMEEENSERE

A joint venture of CCRE Group

EEMESENEGEDLE

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEEMWESENAERLE

A joint venture of CCRE Group
BEMWESENAESRE
An associate of CCRE Group
BEMES BN SN F

A joint venture of CCRE Group

BEEMESENEGEDLE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Significant related party transactions

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following related party
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2022.

B E2022F12H31H 1L F/Z (AANREZ(E)

24 EXEBARS ®)

(b)

EXBEBLIRS

BRREAVERREMEMEED
S ARIN REBERE ZE20226F
mﬁmatiﬁﬁ%%ﬁmﬂju
NREREE T R

2022 2021
20224 20214
The Group rEEH Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AR%T T ARBT T
Provision of project REEHERERS:
management service to:
CCRE Group and its joint EEMHESERESED
ventures and associates EY AN - 830
An associate —HEE AT 2,427 4,111
Licensing fee to CCRE Group ZEXiESENHFIER (i) 15,000 8,750
Advance to: BT
CCRE Group EEMES = 150,000
Repayment from: BRKE:
CCRE Group BEMESE - 993,220
An associate —[E B2 A A 1,600
Receiving other miscellaneous HEIE HEE W E M IE
services from related parties R 6,188 18,574
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Significant related party transactions (Continued)

Note:

(i)

Licensing fee

On 13 May 2021, the Company and CCRE entered into a
license agreement (the “Trademark Licensing
Agreement”) in respect of “ # %" (“Jianye”) and related
trademarks for an initial term of ten years after the listing
date. Pursuant to the license agreement, licensing fees
are charged by CCRE to the Company since 31 May
2021, the listing date of the Company in the following
manner: (i) for the first three years: RMB15,000,000 per
annum; (ii) for the fourth to sixth year: RMB20,000,000
per annum; (iii) for the seventh to tenth year:
RMB25,000,000 per annum, if applicable, calculated on a
pro-rated basis for less than an entire calendar year.
Neither CCRE nor the Group has the right to unilaterally
terminate the Trademark Licensing Agreement.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
accrued licensing fee of RMB15,000,000 (2021:
RMB8,750,000) pursuant to the license agreement, which
was included in “other operating expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

190 CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « RRZEXBR A

24 EXEEAFRS 2

EXBEBAIRS (&)

Hisz

(i)

HUEA

M20214658138 - R AT HZE
EFVEBIEF] REEEEN
Frl i (AR HEl) 918
FHBE ETHASEAN T F o RIEB
Al sk - M E 1] §202145 731
B(ARE EMBH)BEBAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M REME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
# F2022F 12 31H IEFJE (UARKESE)

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 EXBEBARXS #)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Balance with related parties (c) EEREEEER MR
2022 2021
The Group A EHE 20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Amounts due from: PE R FRIE
Trade related: B 5
An associate — & A F 1,379 =
Non-trade related: FHE 1A -
CCRE Group and its joint ventures and Z¥EEE R LA L P¥ER
associates i B/NE] 5,718 2,187
An associate —MHE A A 23,664 25,323
30,761 27,510
Amounts due to: PEAFRRIE
Trade related: EH 5186
Central China New Life Group BENEEEE 25,351 28,799
CCRE Group BEMWESEE 6,501 8,750
Non-trade related: FEZ 1A -
CCRE Group BEMESE 3,806 1,307
35,658 38,856
Contract assets from related parties: BH TSN EE:
Trade related: EZI66
An associate —EHE QA 3,387 4,844
Contract liabilities to related parties: BHF SN EE:
Trade related: E S8
CCRE Group and its joint ventures and E¥EEBREAERER
associates ER /NG| 16,580 16,580
Lease liabilities to CCRE Group EEMEEENEEERE: 905 3,995
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

24

192

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Balance with related parties (Continued)

All the balances are unsecured, interest-free and payable
on demand.

Trade-related amounts due from related parties are in
relation to provision of project management services to
related parties. Trade-related amounts due to Central
China New Life Group include collection of service fees
on behalf of Jianye Property Management for its
provision of property management services to the
customers of the Group.

24 EXEEAFRS 2

(c) EERAMETS VAEER(E)

BEGRERR 28 HEARER
At

e B 2 B 5 HR IR JI B A
RETRESHERRREER &
NEXHFLEEEE 2B HHEBNKEA
BRERAEAAKSETFREHFIHE
RERBMREZXDEE L KRR

2022 2021
The Company KA F] 20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Amount due from subsidiaries FE UK BT /B A R R T
— non-current —IERH 517,018 467,455
— current — nE 592,516 294,980
Amount due from CCRE Group ElWEEhESEERE = 4,807
Lease liabilities to CCRE Group EXHESEENEEEE 302 1,332
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Key management compensation

Compensations for key management other than those
for directors as disclosed in note 7 is set out below:

R 5 R | P o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

24 EXKEEAERS

(d)

B E2022F12H31H 1L F/Z (AANREZ(E)

(%)

FTEEEASHM

BRERBERNMEICETHFMIEEE
EABFHBESIMT

2022 2021
2022 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T

Salaries and other short-term employee ¥4 & £ 45 Hi{g 8 48 7
benefits 8,600 11,545
Equity settled share-based payment AR A E AR S K 542 924
Total Ak 9,142 12,469

Total remuneration is included in “personnel cost” (see
note 5(b)).

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of rendering
service to, receiving services and acquiring equity
interests from entities controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder above constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are provided in sections “Connected transactions” and
“Continuing connected transactions” of the Directors’
Report except those transactions which are exempt from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as they are below the de minimis threshold under
Rule 14A.76(1).

(e)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA 35 R RO o

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
2202212310 1L F/E (UAARESIE)

25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 25 DTEEBEBFERRR

FINANCIAL POSITION
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k23 AR®T AREF T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- B REE 554 1,979
Interests in subsidiaries R B R AR R 24(c) 517,018 467,455
Amount due from related parties & UK BE B 5 SRR 24(c) - 4,807
Other financial assets Hib e B E 13 4,894 8,076
522,466 482,317
Current assets RBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FE UL B /B 2 B 5RIB 24(c) 592,516 294,980
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 180 210,294
592,696 505,274
Current liabilities REBEaE
Other payables H{th e3R8 = 160
Lease liabilities HEAE 302 1,059
302 1,219
Net current assets RBEEZE 592,394 504,055
Total assets less current liabilites @ EERARBAE 1,114,860 986,372
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HERE = 273
NET assets EEFE 1,114,860 986,099
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARHE
Share capital & 2 21(a) 26,990 27,035
Reserves s 21(d) 1,087,870 959,064
TOTAL EQUITY M AARE 1,114,860 986,099

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

M2023F3 200 & = it & M IRET)

20 March 2023. Bt o
Wu Po Sum Hu Bing
HER ik
Chairman and Non-executive Director Executive Director
TEFIFHTESE HITEF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MIGH =M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B E2022F12H31H 1L F/Z (AANREZ(E)

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE 26 HEHRIFAREFE
REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a RBEMR EFEBRRBFRRE -FHA
final dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 21(b). SEIBRBY FE21(b) 2 55 -

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 27 EF2022F12A3MBLEFERB

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, and a new
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

BB REMBMSETA -
BHREREUVREENRE

HEAMBRETEAH FESFHAQ
SEBMEEEF R ERE B R
SRR BITHRRB AL LSBT R
BN E £2022F12 A31H IEFE XM AL
W BN AN SRR BAE AT Al
BEEAEEFEE-

Effective for

accounting

periods

beginning on

or after

RT5B#R

ZERABEN

SETHBEER

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
(BEEMBREEL) 1758 RESA 2023F1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023
(BEEHER) B1RE(BFENBREEEBBR) F25% (BETAR) 27K KE 20231 H1H
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
(BEGER) F85% (BFIAR) - Bt EE 2023F1H1H

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

(CBEGTER) F1258 (BRI RN) B X GELHNEEREERBIELNEA
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(BRGTER) £33k (BRIN)  WERENIEREEE

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

(BEGER) 15 (BAIAN) - RESBERBREKIFTE

1 January 2023

2023%1H1H

1 January 2024
202451 H1H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

1 January 2024
2024F1 H1H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

AEELENGERSERBBEVRER
HRELNTE AKE B AR RAZ
FERT A~ ¥ A1 £ Rl R 2 B A AR gE 1 47
EMBRRENEATE -
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MERHEE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated  #3& 3£ 48 LA M AR 15 AR 3R 25 A sl ) A AR L 0 /K
assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial E£BEZIAETREELGAEE BEMERD
years prepared on the basis as hereunder stated is as set out below: B Z & 70T :

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AR
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT ARBTT ARETTT
Revenue 'ON 605,679 1,301,449 1,152,082 1,028,995 676,399
Profit before taxation B B AT A 403,562 1,012,878 912,337 858,224 544,338
Income tax Fris %t (100,085)  (242,723)  (230,867)  (217,127)  (140,461)
Profit for the year EERA 303,477 770,155 681,470 641,097 403,877
Attributable to: AT HEqL -
Equity shareholders of PIN/NESIL e
the Company A 303,477 770,155 681,470 641,097 403,877
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY R &EE- - BER#ER
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREBTFT ARETFT AREFIT ARETFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 42,670 50,575 35,011 33,277 5,278
Current assets MENEE 2,650,766 2,844,456 1,640,040 1,343,960 1,193,244
Total assets EEHAEE 2,693,436 2,895,031 1,675,051 1,377,237 1,198,522
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities mBBEE (514,865)  (573,793)  (662,588)  (625,978)  (522,146)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (636) (1,609) (5,071) (4,528) =
Total liabilities =Kot (515,501)  (575,402)  (667,659)  (630,506)  (522,146)
Net assets FEE 2,177,935 2,319,629 1,007,392 746,731 676,376
Equity s
Total equity attributable RABIERFER A
to equity shareholders FE(L s 42%E
of the Company 2,177,935 2,319,629 1,007,392 746,731 676,376
Total equity ERsE 2,177,935 2,319,629 1,007,392 746,731 676,376
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